
 
 

SCRUTINY : NEIGHBOURHOOD 
SERVICES, PLANNING AND 

COUNTRYSIDE 
 

2.30 pm MONDAY, 16TH SEPTEMBER, 2019 
COUNCIL CHAMBER 

 
A Pre-Meeting will take place in Conference Room 1 at 2.00 pm.   

This meeting is for Committee Members only  

 
 

Please note that today’s meeting will be recorded.  
  

This recording will not be broadcast on the Authority’s internet as it will only be used 
for training purposes by the Democratic Services Department. 

 
The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the Chamber 

and using the Public Seating Area, Members of the Public are consenting to being 
filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound recordings as outlined 

above.   

 

 
This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on 

(01685) 725284 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk. 
 

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda 
can be found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers. 

 

AGENDA 

1. Apologies for absence   

2. Declarations of Interest (including whipping 
declarations)  

 

 Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 

 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct 
 
Note: 
 

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and 

 
(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 

as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave 

 

3. Update on Carbon & Energy Management 
Activities  

 

 To consider the attached report 
 

5 - 18 

4. Corporate Self-Evaluation   

 To consider the attached report 
 

19 - 66 

5. Forward Work Programme 2019/20   

 To consider the attached report 
 

67 - 78 

6. Scrutiny Referrals, Feedback and Follow up 
Actions  

 

7. Reflection and Evaluation of Meeting   

 To receive an update from the Chair. 
 

 

8. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair   
 

  
COMPOSITION: Councillors:   D Sammon (Chair) 

                      D Jones (Vice-Chair) 
  
 Councillors:   M Colbran, J Davies, L Davies and 

C T Jones 
 

Co-optees: R Holdaway, J McCarthy and T Butler 
  

together with appropriate officers 
 

 

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


 Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Update on Carbon & Energy Management 
Activities  
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 This report provides an update on the Carbon & Energy management activities 

since the written report given to Scrutiny on 11th March 2019 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1. The content of this report to be discussed and noted.  
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 In 2012 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council along with other Local Authorities in 

Wales were the subject of a sector specific Carbon Management Review conducted 
by the Carbon Trust in Wales on behalf of the Welsh Government. This review 
ranked Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 21st out of the 22 Local Authorities 
in Wales and identified that the Council needed to improve in all aspects of carbon 
and energy management. 

3.2 In early 2015, the Authority commissioned an independent Carbon Management 
Review by Carbon Trust accredited Consultants to measure progress made to date 
and to provide further strategic direction. 

3.3 This Review was presented to this Committee on 22 June 2015 and an update on 
progress was given on 24 July 2017.  

Date Written 30th August 2019 

Report Author Iain Goldsworthy 

Service Area Neighbourhood Services  

Committee Date 16th September 2019 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



4.0 WHERE WE WERE  
 
4.1 The 2015 Carbon Management Review considered our position in relation to the 

2012 Carbon Trust study in a qualitative assessment across a range of thematic 
areas with the outcomes summarised as shown below. 

 

 
Although the report showed that good progress had been made in some areas with 
little funding available, it also identified the main challenges faced by the Authority 
in relation to Carbon Management which were: 
 

 Scarce internal funding. 

 Limited physical resources with competing priorities. 

 An urgent need to improve engagement with staff to change behaviour. 

 The lack of a formal Energy Policy and Carbon Management Plan. 

  
4.2 Since December 2014 our electricity supplier, British Gas has been unable to 

provide accurate bills which we have therefore been unable to pay.  Despite being 
part of a Crown Commercial Services Contract which is now being run by National 
Procurement Wales, there are still problems with inaccurate billing which is 

preventing us from transferring to a new supplier. 
 

 

Page 4



 
5.0  WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 

5.1  Resources 

An experienced Energy Engineer was appointed in November 2018 to provide 
additional resource and support. 
 
Between November 2018 and April 2019 the Energy Engineer was working on 
progressing Stage 1 and 2 of the REFIT programme, developing the Carbon 
Management Plan, reducing avoidable energy waste, carrying out targeted energy 
surveys and increasing energy awareness and better housekeeping in corporate 
buildings and schools. 
 
In April 2019 the Energy Officer (who worked alongside the Energy Engineer) left 

the Authority and due to difficulties in recruiting, his replacement will not be in place 

until September 2019 and a significant amount of ‘on the job’ training will be 

required. The Building Services Group Manager who has overall responsibility for 

Energy and Carbon Management also been replaced.  

Due to these changes, the authority has been under resourced in relation to Energy 

and Carbon Management. 

Since April the Energy Engineer has been covering the Energy Officer tasks, which 

includes checking and signing off of energy invoices, contract management of 250 

utility supplies and mechanical maintenance issues and servicing. This leaves very 

little to no time for proactive energy and cost saving work. 

5.2 REFIT 

In November 2018 we signed up to Stage 1 and 2 of the REFIT Energy Efficiency 
Programme. 
 
The programme supports energy efficiency and renewable energy measures, 
resulting in cash savings from lower energy use and reduced carbon emissions. 
Public bodies can save time and resources procuring REFIT services and works. 
As it is an energy performance contracting framework energy and cost savings are 
guaranteed. 
 
Phase 1 involved a high level energy assessment and benchmarking of MTCBC 
buildings.  
 
High level estimates suggest that the project value will be in the region of £1 million 
with estimated annual energy savings of £140,000 and paybacks of around 7-8 
years. Buildings involved in the project include schools, corporate accommodation, 
care homes and leisure centres. 
 
The RE:FIT programme will not be able to proceed unless there is financial 
investment from MTCBC. 
 

Page 5



A Salix Interest Free loan will need to be obtained by MTCBC to pay for the works. 
Initially energy cost savings will be used to pay back the interest free loan. Once 
the loan is paid off the authority will benefit fully from the energy cost savings of the 
technologies installed. With the large proportion of buildings involved in REFIT 
being schools, it is essential Finance and Education create a mechanism to 
payback the loans taking into account the delegated school budgets. 
 
We are now coming towards the end of Stage 2, with the aim of running a mini 
competition in September 2019 via E Tender Wales. We will then appoint an 
Energy Services Provider to carry out Investment Grade Proposal Surveys of each 
building, which will detail the work to be carried out, the energy conservation 
measures that will be installed and provide a binding price and guarantee of 
energy, cost and carbon savings.  
 
Pending MTCBC approval of the Salix Loan, Stage 3 will involve installing the 
energy saving measures. Appendix 1 sets out the results from the High Level 
Benchmarking Exercise. (Please note additional sites have been added to the 
project since the benchmarking exercise which will increase total project costs and 
savings.) 
 
 

5.3     Draft Carbon Management Plan  

A draft CMP (Carbon Management Plan) was produced in 2017. The Plan outlines 

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council’s (MTCBC’s) aspirational strategy to reduce 

CO2 emissions arising from its’ buildings (and the Leisure Trust’s), streetlighting, 

fleet and business travel by 15% by 2025. The final CMP will be presented to 

Council for approval in October 2019. 

In order to get to this position the Energy Engineer has been working on updating 

the draft CMP. The Baseline calculation for 2018-19 provided the following results: 

 26% reduction is carbon emissions compared to 2014-15 

 68% reduction in costs related to Streetlighting saving approximately 

£267,081 per year 

 8% reduction in electricity consumption in buildings compared to 2014-15 

 8% increase in gas consumption in buildings compared to 2014-15 

 19% Increase in costs of electricity in buildings compared to 2014-15  

Total Energy Costs for the Authority and Leisure Trust could increase by 

approximately £400,000 by 2025 if no investment is made in Energy Efficiency 

Measures. 

Please note that Carbon Emissions will vary year on year dependent on weather 

conditions. We have endeavoured to get the Carbon Emissions figures as accurate 

as possible. Due to some supplies being based on estimated utility invoices there 

will be some minor inaccuracies.  

 

 
Page 6



5.4 Getting our House in Order-Energy Data and Systems-Introduction of 

Systemslink Energy Management Software 

In 2015 an independent Carbon Management Review recommended that the 
MTCBC needed to urgently invest in Energy and Carbon Management Software.  

The availability of accurate data is essential to pro-active energy management, 
reporting, ability to measure progress against targets and streamlined budgeting.  
It also provides ultimate portfolio transparency in the mission to drive down 
consumption. This requires an extensive network of utility meters and an effective 
system for manipulating the data collected. Such a system is commonly referred to 
as Energy and Carbon management software. 

 
Currently, Merthyr Tydfil Council does not have adequate Energy Management 
Systems in place but instead relies on manual methods of data management, 
invoice collation and processing. MTCBC is unable to manage energy running costs 
effectively while also placing large administrative burdens on the energy unit 
relating to the reporting, collation and authorisation of Energy Invoices and data. 
 
To improve this situation we are due to set up and purchase Systemslink Energy 
Management software. The powerful market-leading software offers a full suite of 
tools suitable for all levels of expertise and is suitable for every multi-site 
organisation wishing to monitor and, therefore, control energy usage and costs. 
 
The initial set up process will take between 8-12 months and will involve populating 
the software with all of MTCBC utility data.  
 
The main benefits of the software are as follows: 
 

 Automatic Validation of Energy Invoices saving staff time 

 All energy, cost, meter and site information will be kept in a central database 
instead of being stored in thousands of different documents 

 Energy users have clear information and can be provided with tools to help 
reduce consumption.  

 Improved monitoring of Energy and Costs 

 Use of Web Module to give buildings managers quick and easy access to 
utility data where energy information can be communicated clearly using 
clear, user friendly graphical dashboards. 
 

  

5.5 Pending Legislation 
 

The Environment Act 2016 requires the WG to reduce emissions in Wales by at 
least 80% for the year 2050. As part of the act Welsh Ministers must prepare and 
publish a report for each budgetary period setting out their policies and procedures 
for meeting the new Carbon Budget. 

 
In March 2019 the Welsh Government published its plan for a transition to a Low 
Carbon economy. The plan sets out WG Action to cut emissions, meet carbon 
budgets and support the growth of a Low Carbon Economy. 
 

Page 7



Welsh Government has set out its ambition for the public sector to be carbon 
neutral by 2030. Unfortunately the delivery plan does not stipulate that any 
additional finances and resources will be allocated to the Public Sector bodies to 
assist them in reaching Carbon Neutrality. 
 
Currently, many Local Authorities measure and report their Carbon Emissions via 
the CRC Energy Efficiency Scheme. With the CRC coming to an end after the 
2018/19 reporting year, WG will be considering a replacement reporting scheme for 
the Welsh public sector. WG are currently scoping options, and will be sharing their 
conclusions in 2020. 
 
MTCBC are at a severe disadvantage to other authorities, as we are one of only 
two local authorities in Wales who did not report these emissions under the CRC 
scheme. As a result, our current metering, data collection and data management 
systems are very poor in comparison to other authorities. This may result in the 
data collection and calculation procedure being a very time consuming and labour 
intensive process although the installation of Systemslink will help to improve the 
current situation.  

  

5.6 Utility Price Increases  

Energy forecasts predict a “volatile” year for wholesale gas prices and electricity 
prices. “Many uncertainties exist in terms of the global energy markets, but the 
main driver of the fluctuations for the UK will be the exchange rate and the 
weakness of the Pound against the US Dollar. The UK is an energy-importing 
nation, and Brexit uncertainties will have a great impact on the price of oil for the 
UK as suppliers will be looking for guaranteed revenue and security. This will 
mainly affect the gas markets, but electricity markets will feel the pinch too, as 
higher upstream costs of the raw material fuels will trickle down to wholesale 
markets.” 
 
The Crown Commercial Service has issued MTCBC energy prices for April 2019 to 
March 2020. Average electricity costs increased by 8% with gas costs increasing by 
11%. As an estimate an additional £100,000 could be required to balance energy 
budgets. Water rates for 2019/20 has been lowered by Dwr Cymru resulting in an 
estimated saving to authority of £30,000 per annum. 
 
Without investment in energy reduction projects that lower running costs of our 
buildings we will continue to be fully exposed to utility price increases going 
forward. 
 

5.7 Savings Tracker 

The Energy savings tracker attached at Appendix 2 highlights some of the energy, 
carbon and cost savings achieved in the authority since 2015. The savings tracker 
is broken down into the following areas: 
 

5.7.1 Technical Projects 

With limited funding at its disposal, the Property Services/ Energy Team have 
carried out a number of Energy and Cost Saving Projects since 2015, financed by 

Page 8



utilising existing budgets and Welsh Government Grants. Accumulated savings 
from Energy Projects are approximately £125,000.    
 
More recently Cost and Carbon saving LED Lighting has been installed in Cyfarthfa 
High School and Bedlinog Primary School. The benefits to the schools are 
considerable. Electricity Running Costs have reduced by approximately 20%-30%. 
In some areas intelligent lighting controls ensure lights are automatically switched 
off when rooms are unoccupied while in other areas lights dim down to save energy 
and costs dependent on the amount of daylight. The quality of light is much 
improved and the difference in lighting levels has made a considerable difference to 
the learning environment to both staff and pupils.  
 
With diminished budgets and no further grants from Welsh Government it is 
essential that the MTCBC is able to access Salix Loans and repayment 
mechanisms within Finance and Education departments are created to ensure we 
can benefit from the Cost and Carbon savings Energy Reduction Projects will bring. 

 

5.7.2 Operational Management/ Behaviour Change 

The behaviour of all staff and users of Council buildings has an impact on energy 

performance and utility costs. Since February 2019, the Energy Engineer has been 

promoting simple changes staff can make to cut energy costs via emails that focus 

on good energy saving housekeeping in schools and council buildings.  

The results of this have been positive. We saw a 10% reduction in electricity use in 

Primary and Secondary schools over the Easter Holidays. During the Summer 

Holidays Secondary Schools achieved a 34% reduction in electricity use as a result 

of a targeted switch off campaign.  

The Civic Offices electricity consumption has also reduced by an estimated 15% 

since February 2019 and is on track to save an estimated £10,000-15,000 this year. 

We have also integrated a similar message into the new Corporate Induction pack. 

This will hopefully ensure new employees get an understanding of what we expect 

of them in terms of energy saving behaviour in their workplace and how they 

contribute to reducing the authority’s carbon emissions and impact on the 

environment. 

The Energy Engineer has also been carrying out targeted Energy Audits, optimising 

BMS Systems, and carrying out training to building managers on how they can 

minimise their buildings running costs. Afon Taf School is estimated to save £7000 

on their electricity and gas costs this year. Coed Y Dderwen Primary School will 

save approximately £2300 as result of reprogramming the Boiler Management 

System. 

5.7.3  Design and Asset Management /Renewables 

All new buildings and refurbishment projects will be carried out with energy 
efficiency and life cycle costs taken into consideration. The most efficient 
equipment will be installed wherever financially possible.  
 

Page 9



The remodelling of Afon Taf School is saving approximately £19,000 per annum on 

energy costs as a result of improved building fabric, LED lighting, better controlled 

and more efficient boilers and building management system. 

With the refurbishment of Unit 20, we had the opportunity to install over 30kw of 

Solar Panels while also ensuring they were registered for the Feed in Tariff to 

increase income generation. This will result in cost savings in the region of 

£100,000 over the life of the system. 

 

5.7.4  Energy Invoice Audit 

Industry guidance states that approximately 4% of energy invoices are incorrect 
leading organisations to overspend on their utilities. Taking this into account the 
Energy Engineer has carried out a high level Energy Invoice Audit for MTCBC 
accounts to ensure we are being charged correctly for our Energy. The Audit 
discovered that MTCBC has been incorrectly charged for the Climate Change Levy 
on some sites for over 4 years. Other findings included MTCBC sites getting 
charged for electricity capacity that was not required. As a result the Energy 
Engineer has been working with the Energy Suppliers to claim back financial 
rebates while also making cost saving amendments to energy supply contracts. 
The audit will save approximately £70,000 for the financial year 2019/20. Over a 5 
year period we can expect to save an estimated £170,000 on energy invoice 
payments. 

 
5.8     Gas and Water Metering 
 

 At present it is very difficult to manage gas and water consumption within the 
authority due to the existing metering and data systems. We require half hourly 
metering to enable us to understand our operational energy use and take actions to 
reduce costs and consumption, with particular benefits to schools. 
 
Currently we do not have funding to implement this technology which would cost 
£75 per gas meter per annum. Discussions with the schools forum are due to take 
place in September on how we can cover the cost of this technology utilising 
existing budgets. 
 
Managing water is especially difficult as we do not have access to water usage 
data/invoices for a large number of sites such as schools. Also, systems are not in 
place to capture water consumption data which will allow us to identify excess 
consumption. 

 

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE  
 
6.1  As previously highlighted by External Reviews in 2012 and 2015, the Authority’s 

carbon management (energy cost reduction) activities should be formalised within a 
Carbon Management Plan as this would provide: 

 A corporate commitment to reduce energy costs (carbon emissions) 
including quantifying the level of reduction targets. 

 A visible statement of senior management support with key managers 
given delegated areas of responsibility. 

Page 10



 Formalised arrangements for implementation and ongoing review which 
should be overseen by a board level champion.   

 More full time members of staff are required to strengthen the team and 
keep the momentum going forward.  

 All new buildings should be built to near zero energy standards. 
 
6.2  The majority of our buildings will have Energy Efficiency Measures(LED Lighting,    

BMS Systems, Renewables) installed which will lower running costs and carbon 
emissions. 

 
6.3 Fully functioning and populated Energy and Carbon Management Software. 

 

6.4. Water and Gas meters have AMR (Automatic Meter Read) capability which will give 
us access to half hourly data. Enabling us to carry out pro-active energy 
management of Gas and Water Supplies. Financial Investment will be required to 
achieve this. 

 

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 
7.1  Gain Council approval for the Carbon Management Plan. 
 
7.2 Continue with the Welsh Government REFIT Programme. 
 
7.3     Ensure Finance/ Education are on board with REFIT Programme and Salix Loans 

so that funding is available to install energy efficiency measures. 
 
7.4     Install Systemslink Energy Management Software and begin populating with 

MTCBC site, energy invoice and metering information. 
 

7.5 We still have a lack of both resources and funding available for energy 
management. Project management resources will be required for the monitoring of 
the RE:FIT programme but we will be able to buy in services externally for this. 
 

7.4 We will ensure that only the most efficient equipment is used in replacement or new 
items for building services. 
 

7.5 When new boilers or heating systems are installed they will be controlled by a 
Building Management System (BMS) and linked back to Property Services. 

 
7.6     Gain approval of funding for GAS AMR metering. 
 
7.7     Explore ways we can improve the visibility of water usage data and invoices. 

 
8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 

8.1 The Carbon and energy management activities directly relate to the authorities 
Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our Community Plan and is incorporated in the 
Environmental Wellbeing 1 scrutiny report in that the reduction in energy use will 
reduce the amount of CO2 produced by the authority therefore improving the air 
quality within the borough.  

 

Page 11



 
JUDITH JONES 
CHIEF OFFICER FOR PLANNING & 
NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES  

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES 
CABINET MEMBER FOR PLANNING & 
NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES  

 
 
 
 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

List the Background 
documents which have 
been relied on in 
preparing the report. 
E.g. previous minutes of 
relevant committees 

 
 

 
Appendix 1 

 
Appendix 2 

 

Q:/ Carbon Management Plan 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

 
No 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 12



APPENDIX 1

Client Summary for Methyr Tydfil CBC (All Sites)

Estimated capital 

investment (£)

Estimated annual 

cost saving (£)

Maximum payback 

(yrs)

Total annual energy 

savings (kWh) Total annual energy savings (%)
Estimated annual 

CO2 saving (tCO2e)

£947,527 £140,489 6.7 2,266,164 20.1% 584

Contingency 15%

£1,089,656 7.8

Average persistence factor of 

measures (years) 9

Lifetime tonne CO2 savings 5,252

Cost per life tonne CO2 saved £180.41

Breakdown by Building Category: Incl. contingency £207.47

Non School

Estimated capital 

investment (£)

Estimated annual 

cost saving (£)

Maximum payback 

(yrs)

Total annual energy 

savings (kWh) Total annual energy savings (%)
Estimated annual 

CO2 saving (tCO2e)

£286,250 £47,096 6.1 655,086 5.8% 181

Schools

Estimated capital 

investment (£)

Estimated annual 

cost saving (£)

Maximum payback 

(yrs)

Total annual energy 

savings (kWh) Total annual energy savings (%)
Estimated annual 

CO2 saving (tCO2e)

£661,277 £93,393 7.1 1,611,077 14.3% 403

Client Summary for Methyr Tydfil CBC (Phase One Sites)

Estimated capital 

investment (£)

Estimated annual 

cost saving (£)

Maximum payback 

(yrs)

Total annual energy 

savings (kWh) Total annual energy savings (%)
Estimated annual 

CO2 saving (tCO2e)

£0 £0 0 0

Contingency 15%
£0

Average persistence factor of 

measures (years) 9

Lifetime tonne CO2 savings 0

Cost per life tonne CO2 saved

Incl. contingency

Please note:

1.    The benchmarking results above represent an estimate of the conservative minimum opportunity across the buildings, by comparing your 

building data with national benchmarks. These results are not intended to limit you to a project of this size or performance; they are there to 

assist you in understanding the minimum opportunity for savings and approximate capital investment required. The results below do not include 

other savings, benefits or income that may result from undertaking projects e.g. maintenance/lifecycle savings, income, carbon tax savings or 

tariff incentives.

2.     You will see above that a percentage has been added to the calculated estimated capital investment  as a proposed contingency. This is 

intended to cover other costs including, Investment Grade Proposals (IGPs) / design, project management, contingency, Measurement & 

Verification services or energy monitoring services. It is also intended that this proposed contingency includes an allowance for variance 

between the benchmark estimated capital investment  and values which are received from service providers during the Re:fit procurement 

process.

3.    The benchmarking process does not identify the types of energy conservation/generation measures that could be proposed to achieve these 

savings. An Opportunity Assessment with site visits would be required to do this.

4.    The results above are only as good as the accuracy of the data provided. The data requested in the Site data  tab is used to improve the 

accuracy of the results by adjusting the benchmark values.

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Site Date of Installation/ Implemention Project Description Estimated/Actual Savings Annual Savings(£) Annual Energy Savings(kWh) Annual Co2 Savings(Tonnes) Type of Savings(£) Cumulative Savings(£)

Technical Projects

Unit 5 01/04/2015 Sensors fitted to warehouse lighting Actual 182 1656 0.47 Year on Year 728
Civic Offices 01/04/2013 Energy Efficient Boiler and Controls Upgrade Actual 10,000 280,000 51.41 Year on Year 50000
Cyfarthfa High School 01/05/2017 Replace DHW Calorifier and Boiler serving kitchen with gas fired storage Heater Actual 294 2675 0.49 Year on Year 588
Cyfarthfa High School 01/11/2018 Energy Efficient Lighting Upgrade(LED) Actual 7,049 58745 16.50 Year on Year 7049
Dowlais Junior School 08/08/2019 Energy Efficient Lighting Upgrade(LED) Estimated 2,331 16,430 4.61 Year on Year 2331
Bedlinog Primary School 08/08/2019 Energy Efficient Lighting Upgrade(LED) Estimated 2,191 15,000 4.21 Year on Year 2191
Greenfields School 01/09/2019 Energy Efficient Boiler and Controls Upgrade Estimated 1,000 50,000 9.18 Year on Year 1500

Edwardsville Primary School 01/09/2019 Energy Efficient Boiler and Controls Upgrade Estimated 500 16,666 3.06 Year on Year 500
Pantyscallog Primary School TBC Energy Efficient Lighting Upgrade(LED) Estimated 3,000 28,000 7.86 Year on Year 0
Gwaunfarren Primary School TBC Energy Efficient Lighting Upgrade(LED) Estimated 2,378 19,737 5.54 Year on Year 0
Rhydycar Leisure Centre 01/01/2017 Installation of Combined Heat and Power Unit Actual 30,000 n/a 10 Year on Year 60,000

Operational Management /Behaviour Change
Castle Street Multi Storey Car Park 02/01/2019 Regprogramming of Internal Lighting Time Controls Actual 2,383 63563 17.85 Year on Year 1500
Civic Offices 01/03/2019 BMS Optimisation/Behaviour Change/ VER Estimated 9,172 76441 21.47 Year on Year 9172
Coed Y Dderwen Primary School 01/03/2019 Optimisation of Boiler Controls Estimated 2,600 115,000 21 Year on Year 2600
YGG Santes Tudful 01/03/2019 BMS Optimisation Estimated 1,656 52807 10.27 Year on Year 1656
Abercanaid Primary School 01/03/2019 Behavioural Change Estimated 1,214 84338 23.68 Year on Year 1000
Treharris Care Home 01/03/2019 BMS Optimisation Estimated 2,663 22192 6.23 Year on Year 2663
Dowlais Infants 01/12/2019 BMS Optimisation/Property Rationlisation Actual 688 5741 1.612 Year on Year 688
Afon Taf High School 01/03/2019 BMS Optimisation/Caretaker Training Actual 7,155 209654 40.35 Year on Year 5000
Schools and Corporate Buildings 01/02/2019 Holiday/ Half Term Switch Off Campaign Estimated 5,000 TBC TBC Year on Year 5000

Design and Asset Management 

Renewables 

Unit 20 01/08/2019 30kw Solar Array fitted to Unit(Inc Registration of Feed in Tariff) Actual 4,904 20,433 5.73 Year on Year 4904
Energy Invoice Audit
Afon Taf High School 02/01/2019 Reduction in Maximum Import Capacity Actual 536 n/a n/a Year on Year 536
Civic Offices 02/01/2019 Reduction in Maximum Import Capacity Actual 400 n/a n/a Year on Year 400
Unit 5 02/01/2019 Reduction in Maximum Import Capacity Actual 535 n/a n/a Year on Year 535
Orbit Offices 02/01/2019 Reduction in Maximum Import Capacity Actual 1,253 n/a n/a Year on Year 1253
Bargoed House 02/01/2019 Reduction in Maximum Import Capacity Actual 800 n/a n/a Year on Year 800
Gurnos House 02/01/2019 Reduction in Maximum Import Capacity Actual 750 n/a n/a Year on Year 750
Heolgerrig Primary School 02/01/2019 Reduction in Maximum Import Capacity Actual 696 n/a n/a Year on Year 696
Edwardsville Primary School 02/01/2019 Reduction in Maximum Import Capacity Actual 321 n/a n/a Year on Year 321
Red House-Leisure Trust 01/06/2019 Reduction in Maximum Import Capacity Actual 4,104 n/a n/a Year on Year 4104
Rhydycar Leisure Centre-Leisure Trust 01/06/2019 Reduction in Maximum Import Capacity Actual 4,474 n/a n/a Year on Year 4474
Cae Mari Dwn Sports Field 19/07/2019 Reduction in Maximum Import Capacity Actual 1,200 n/a n/a Year on Year 1200
Bishop Hedley School 01/04/2019 CCL(Climate Change Levy)Rebate Actual 10,103 n/a n/a One Off 10,103
Bishop Hedley School 01/04/2019 CCL Exemption Actual 4,462 n/a n/a Year on Year 4462
Bargoed House 01/04/2019 CCL(Climate Change Levy)Rebate Actual 9,491 n/a n/a One Off 9491
Bargoed House 01/04/2019 CCL Exemption Actual 4,467 n/a n/a Year on Year 4467
Gurnos House 01/04/2019 CCL (Climate Change Levy)Rebate Actual 9,321 n/a n/a One Off 9321
Gurnos House 01/04/2019 CCL Exemption Actual 4,415 n/a n/a Year on Year 4415
Llysfane Care Home 01/04/2019 CCL (Climate Change Levy)Rebate Actual 2,149 n/a n/a One Off 2149
Llysfane Care Home 01/04/2019 CCL Exemption Actual 1,460 n/a n/a Year on Year 1460
Thomastown House 01/04/2019 CCL (Climate Change Levy)Rebate Actual 1,192 n/a n/a One Off 1192
Thomastown House 01/04/2019 CCL Exemption Actual 510 n/a n/a Year on Year 510
Unit 5 01/05/2019 Water Meter Downsizing Actual 3,800 n/a n/a Year on Year 3800
Coed Y Dderwen Primary School 01/04/2019 Electricity Meter discrepancy resolution Actual 3,150 n/a n/a One Off 3150

Other
Pen y Dre NLC 01/02/2019 Production of Energy Performance Certificates Actual 900 n/a n/a One Off 900

Total(£): 267559

292001 gs-144839/es147162 Year on Year 38,000Afon Taf High School 01/04/2017
Phased remodelling of site. Outcomes will include a reduction in GIA from 
12,086m2 (from DEC) to 8,155m2. 19,000ActualP

age 15



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Corporate Self-Evaluation 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 Self-evaluation is a useful process that is rigorous and enables Chief Officers, Heads 

of Service and officers to be critically reflective about outcomes, service provision 
and leadership and management. 
 

1.2 Following a refocus exercise of documentation to ensure it continued to meet the 
organisation’s needs; the Council’s Corporate Management Team (CMT) approved 
the re-introduction of the corporate self-evaluation process in May 2019.    
 

1.3 Completion of the process is undertaken in ‘bite-sized’ chunks on a question-by-
question basis.  This aims to support all officers involved to contribute to the process 
whilst maintaining their ability to manage multiple other priorities. 

 
1.4 This report focuses on the completion of the self-evaluation undertaken by the Chief 

Officer: Neighbourhood Services and her teams in relation to Key Question 
(Outcomes).  The response directly relates to the Environmental Wellbeing theme 
laid down in the Council’s Corporate Plan: Focus on the Future. 
 

1.5 This report and its appendices highlight the key findings of the self-evaluation 
activity; outline areas of good practice along with areas for development; and 
identifies the priorities for improvement which will be developed into a Business 
Improvement Plan. 

 
 

Date Written 3rd September 2019 

Report Author Judith Jones 

Service Area Neighbourhood Services, 
Planning and Countryside  

Committee Date 16th September 2019 

Page 17

Agenda Item 4



2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1 Scrutiny Committee Members to provide officers feedback on the content of the 

report developed through completion of the self-evaluation process. 
 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 Self-evaluation is a business process that is rigorous and enables organisations to 

be critically reflective about outcomes, service provision and leadership and 
management.  In 2013/14, the Council introduced a self-evaluation process which 
was completed by officers at Head of Service level.  The format of the challenge 
sessions was based on high-level challenge in a session lasting 2-2½ hours; with a 
number of Heads of Service. 

 
3.2 From using lessons learned over previous years, the format of the challenge of self-

evaluation was developed (e.g.) self-evaluation was undertaken on a service-level 
basis; with challenge being offered a Performance Board consisting the Chief 
Executive, Directorate Lead; Portfolio Member and the Chair of the Scrutiny 
Committee to which the service reported.  The key outcome of the process was to 
identify areas of good practice; along with priorities for improvement. 

 
3.3 In 2019, a refocus exercise was undertaken to ensure the self-evaluation documents 

continued to meet the organisation’s needs (e.g.) offered officers completing the 
forms opportunity to outline the current service position; highlight any good practice; 
note areas for development and to identify the services’ priorities for improvement. 
The documents were organised in the form of 3 key questions: 

 Outcomes; 

 Provision and Service Delivery; and  

 Leadership and management. 
 

There was no specific order in which the questions needed to be completed, as long 
as all three questions were completed within the year. 

 
3.4 Following consideration of the updated documents by the Council’s Corporate 

Management Team (CMT); the new format was approved for re-introduction in May 
2019. 
 

3.5 As part of the process cycle supporting the delivery of the self-evaluation process 
(see Appendix 1), it was proposed that completed questions should be presented 
before the sector-specific scrutiny committee which normally scrutinises the 
outputs/outcomes for the relevant service area.  This was seen as an opportunity for 
Committee Members to review and explore facets of the wide range of activities for 
which Chief Officers were accountable; whilst for services, it was seen as an 
opportunity for details of their services to be brought before scrutiny to outline 
positive practice and achievements along with any challenges faced and areas for 
development. 
 

3.6 Committee Members are asked to review the content of the completed questions 
and consider performance, areas of good practice, areas for development and, 
perhaps most importantly, the services’ priorities for improvement for the coming Page 18



year.  Scrutineers’ feedback will be used when considering how these priorities will 
be progressed. 

 

 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE  
 
4.1  In previous years, the Council had undertaken self-evaluation activities annual basis 

on a service-by service basis.  The process required Heads of Service to review 
project/programme activity and reflect on what had been achieved, as well as 
identifying what needed to be prioritised next with a view to planning how should be 
done. 

 
 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 
5.1 Judgement: Adequate 

 
5.1.1 For 2018/19 the outcomes for Neighbourhood Services & Planning is considered to 

be adequate. There are some evidenced examples (contained at Appendix 2 of this 
report) of good outcomes for the community in Development Control, Building 
Control and Waste, however on the whole, due to the year on year reduction in 
resources and budgets for the other front line services along with the Engineering 
department, the outcomes for the community are considered to be adequate in that 
the services are provided but are limited and are often re-active rather than pro-
active due to limited resources. 

 
5.1.2 In terms of continuous improvement, the information below shows that despite the 

limited resources, staff are continually looking for ways to improve their services and 
are conscious of the need for progress. This is a particular focus in Waste, where 
ambitious recycling targets set by WG require continuous implementation of new 
initiatives and new ways of working in order to meet those targets. It is also however 
highlighted that continuous improvement in energy and carbon management to date 
is unsatisfactory, with little progress being made which needs to be addressed 
immediately. The information below provide examples of the work carried out during 
2018/19, this is followed in Section 6.0 and 7.0 by identified initiatives that would help 
improve overall outcomes. 

 
5.2 Planning plays a key role in delivering the Councils Shared Vision, the Public Service 

Board Wellbeing Plan and the political priorities of Merthyr Tydfil. Effective 
communication between officers and members and internal departments is essential 
to fulfilling the overall vision. During 2018/19 the deposit 1st replacement LDP was 
published and consulted upon, demonstrating progress in line with the WG Delivery 
Agreement. 

 
5.3 In 2018/19 Merthyr Tydfil was the best performing local planning authority in Wales 

in terms of determining applications. Although the speed of determining applications 
has been excellent, the Committee process (which is there to determine strategic 
applications) is significantly slowing down the decision making process due to non-
strategic planning applications being called to Committee to be determined and 
requesting Fact Finding Visits (FFV). Between Oct 2018 and July 2019, the 
Committee resolved to undertake a FFV for 63% (i.e. 10 out of 16) of the 

Page 19



applications on the agenda. This adversely affects the speed of achieving the above 
goals and visions. 

 
5.4 During 2018/19 the Building Control Department: 

 Received 403 Building Regulation applications;  

 Carried out approximately 3,500 site inspections, not including enforcement or 
dangerous structures;  

 Investigated 117 unauthorised works with the majority resulting in Building 
Regulation applications ;  

 Investigated reports of 90 dangerous structures. 

 Took on the role of administrator for the Sustainable Urban Drainage (SUDS) 
application process. 

 
5.5 The Building Regulations service provides same day inspections where requested, it 

strives to investigate all dangerous structures reports within 24hrs. The Building 
Regulation function of Building Control is cost neutral. The retention rate of clients 
remains high in a fiercely competitive market. The service has good, close working 
practices and processes across departments with Development Control, Property, 
Regeneration, Estates and Environmental Health and frequently carries out joint 
enforcement visits with Planning Enforcement and Environmental Health Officers. It 
has a ‘report it’ form on line allowing the public to report dangerous structures and 
unauthorised work. One of the three members of staff is fluent in Welsh. 
 

5.6 The Highways service has a well-established Highways Network Plan and Winter 
Maintenance Plan that provide clear guidelines that demonstrates accountability for 
why and how the Council carries out its highways maintenance provision and details 
the processes for dealing with adverse weather conditions; these help to defend third 
party claims. 
 

5.7 The use of LED lanterns in street lighting is reducing lighting failures, is more cost-
effective and is better for the environment. Other examples of this include Finagrip 
and Micro surface dressing on A, B or C category carriageways, which not only 
improve the skid resistance, surface preservation and seal the existing carriageway 
from water ingress but also uses low carbon material bitumen.  

 
5.8 Gully waste is dispensed at the CCBC reed bed filtration facility which filters the 

waste to produce recycled clean water that is used again in the gully.  The remaining 
solid waste is recycled.  

 
5.9 The Waste Management service has robust contracts in place to maximise recycling, 

composting and preparation for reuse; these include regional contracts for certain 
materials that ensure value for money. High levels of recycling, composting and 
preparation for reuse are being achieved in line with Welsh Government recycling 
targets. Having our own Waste transfer station allows us to treat material and sustain 
the best possible market price for our recycling. It also allows us to store high 
volumes of tonnages so in instances of haulage failure it does not impact on the 
residents of Merthyr Tydfil. We have also been recognised nationally by receiving an 
award for our baled aluminium cans. 

5.10 Educational visits are carried out throughout schools and community groups to 
promote sustainable waste management. We allow partners such as Merthyr Valleys 
homes and the voluntary sector to dispose of their bulky recycling through the 

Page 20



HWRC’s. Also allow volunteer groups to dispose of their separated litter picked 
materials at the HWRC’s. 

 
5.11 A weekly recycling service and fortnightly refuse service is provided for the residents 

of Merthyr Tydfil in order to maximise recycling; information and advice is available 
to residents on sustainable waste management through various channels such as 
Events, Door knocking campaigns, Website, Social media and enforcement. 

 
5.12 We also provide a seasonal free of charge fortnightly garden waste collection and a 

free clinical waste collection, along with assisted collections and additional capacity 
bins on application. Two Household waste and Recycling Centres allow residents of 
the County Borough to recycle their bulky waste, and a kerbside bulky waste 
collection service is available for a reasonable charge. 

 
5.13 The Street Cleansing service is now recycling at source which is positively benefiting 

the Authorities recycling targets. Recycled waste is collected from community groups 
and volunteers. Every effort is made to recycle as much of the fly-tipping collected as 
possible. Materials collected are separated into different streams and recycled 
through our CA sites, reducing the waste going to landfill which also helps towards 
our recycling targets. The service performs above the Welsh average for highways 
inspected of a high or acceptable standard 

 

5.14 The service continues to partner with Keep Wales Tidy carrying out various 
community environmental projects, and regular LEQ projects with councillors and 
works collaboratively with Community Safety, the Police, Public Health and Trading 
Standards. The number of community groups has now increased to 40. 

5.15 The Fly Tipping service works closely with the Ranger for the common to actively 
reduce fly tipping offences, attends partnership working groups with NRW, FtAW, 
SWP, South Wales Fire and Rescue, private partners and neighbouring local 
authorities. The service performs above the Welsh average in terms of days taken to 
remove fly tipping. Ten successful prosecutions were achieved and 56 fly tipping 
FPN’s were served. 

 
5.16 The Property Services section is ensuring that the most energy efficient equipment 

affordable is being installed where old equipment is being replaced. New buildings 
are designed to be energy efficient.  We now have 10 buildings with solar panels 
fitted and up until Dec 2018 they had produced a total of 1.49 MWh of electricity and 
saved over 597,000 tonnes of CO2 production. The section works with CLAW 
energy group on knowledge sharing and best practice. 

 
5.17 The Parks & Grounds Maintenance service carries out regular inspection and 

maintenance of the County Boroughs 55 fixed play areas.  Green flag management 
plans are in place for Cyfarthfa, Taff Bargoed parks and Aberfan cemetery.  Friends 
of Cyfarthfa Park and Taff Bargoed park groups are actively involved in park issues, 
and community groups are supported to enable them to realise their aspirations  

 
5.18 The service works alongside highways on the winter maintenance plan by using two 

grounds maintenance tractors to supplement the gritter lorries in hard to access 
streets.  It also supported asset transfer to local community groups and assisted a 
community bid for the Micro Hydro scheme in Parc Taff Bargoed. All green waste 
and logs are recycled.  

 Page 21



5.19 In 2018/19 the Engineering department was involved in the delivery of 65 contracts 
ranging in value from just under £600 to £769,500 with the total value of the 
schemes being £1,928,405.69. The drainage section is collaboratively working with 
two other local authorities and internal stakeholders, providing a design service to 
ensure compliance with Schedule 3 of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010. 
The service continues to be a member of the County Surveyors Society Wales 
Engineering Services Benchmarking and has two welsh speakers (out of ten staff). 

 
5.20 Due to the high risk to public safety all reports received regarding dangerous or 

defective highway structures are investigated within 4 hours. All complaints received 
regarding road safety issues are investigated within 24 hours. The department 
provides a structural design service and assesses structural calculations for other 
departments within the council in accordance with relevant codes of practice. Road 
safety training is provided to schools within Merthyr, 15 schools are participating in 
the junior road safety officer programme. 

 
5.21 Neighbourhood Services front line managers meet on a weekly basis to discuss 

sharing of resources, horizon scanning and to provide an understanding of the 
pressures other departments are under.   

 
5.22 Appendix 2 of this report provides more detail on the initiatives set out above as well 

as how the work contributes to the Wellbeing objectives. 

 

6.0  WHERE WE WANT TO BE  
 

 We want an adopted replacement LDP to guide development within the County 
Borough up to 2031. 

 We want a lower age profile in front line Neighbourhood services. 

 We want to have addressed succession planning issues in Engineering and 
Building Control. In order to reduce risk to service delivery. 

 We want the MTFP to account for the 2,200 new houses to be built in the County 
Borough by 2030, by apportioning a percentage of the council tax receipt to front 
line services that will be required to serve the new houses. 

 We want an efficient and effective Planning Committee. 

 We want a fully online Building Control service, enabling customers to engage 
more easily. 

 We want a re-use shop at unit 20 Depot in Pentrebach to divert re-usable bulky 
items to re-use, to be purchased at a low charge. 

 We want to retrieve more recycling from the wheeled bin. 

 We want to increase participation, set out and capture rate for kerbside dry 
recycling and food waste. 

 We want to increase recycling from internal services. 

 We want to improve communication on recycling to residents of the County 
Borough. 

 We want to reduce the amount of missed collection complaints. 

 We want an additional member of staff at Aberfan HWRC to deal with additional 
tonnages. 

 We want a meet and Greet person at Dowlais HWRC to educate the public on 
the site rules. 

 We want a behavioural change officer. 

Page 22



 We want to increase the trade recycling customer base. 

 We want to implement a trade marketing strategy. 

 We want to review road sweeping routes to become more efficient and react to 
the needs of the public.  

 We want to intervene earlier with Regen/planning to ensure maintenance costs & 
resources of developments are appropriate for future requirements. 

 We want to set up an internal enforcement working group to develop a co-
ordinated approach to tackle issues of fly tipping and litter. 

 We want to progress with Refit Cymru to reduce energy use and therefore CO2 
production in more buildings. 

 We want to install systemslink software to provide a system which will provide 
validation of data and billing whilst enabling easier and quick access to energy 
analysis of our buildings. 

 We want all buildings to have automatic meter reading for utilities. 

 We want to develop the Nature Recovery Plan in accordance with Section 6 of 
the Environment Act 2016, ensuring that all departments are clear on their 
responsibility to contribute. 

 We want Councillors and residents to understand the environmental benefits of 
reduced grass cutting frequency and to implement a communication strategy to 
deal with the publics concerns about lack of maintenance. 

 We want to continue identifying asset transfer opportunities for community groups 
to take over council owned assets.  

 We want to utilise Corporate Communications to encompass various streams of 
communication, relating to fly tipping and trade waste prosecutions, and to 
provide information to the public on Duty of Care. 

 We want funding in order to progress invest to save energy efficiency projects. 

 We want a Council approved Carbon Management Plan. 

 

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 

 Continue to reduce the age profile of Neighbourhood services and address 
succession planning issues in Engineering and Building Control through the use 
of apprentices. 

 Review and revise Planning Committee procedures in order to ensure its 
effectiveness in decision making. 

 Improve the electronic delivery of the Building Control service, enabling 
customers to engage more easily. 

 Develop the re use shop at unit 20 Depot in Pentrebach where residents can 
donate or purchase re-usable items. 

 Produce clear understandable communication via websites, social media and 
provide staff and councillor training in relation to the reduced grass cutting regime 
and ways of working in accordance with the principles of the Environment Act 
2016. 

 In order to lower our residual and increase our recycling percentages, explore 
outsourcing school residuals to a private contractor. This will lower our residual 
and increase our recycling/recovery percentages overall as an Authority. 

 In order to extract as much recyclable material from the wheeled bins we need to 
adopt WRAP`s Keeping up with the Joneses campaign.  

Page 23



 In order to increase our trade recycling customer base and provide a more cost 
effective and efficient service, in partnership with WRAP Cymru we need to 
develop an action plan and marketing strategy. 

 We need to use Corporate Communications to encompass various streams of 
communication relating to fly tipping and trade waste prosecutions, and provide 
information to the public on Duty of Care information. 

 We need to present the Carbon Management Plan to Full Council for approval, 
which will provide the support to progress with identified projects. 

 
These proposals will be developed into a Business Improvement Plan. 

 

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 

8.1 The corporate self-evaluation process is based around the services/activities 
delivered and should reflect the contribution made in relation to the four wellbeing 
objectives set down by the Council in focus in the Corporate Wellbeing Plan.   

 
8.2 This report specifically links to the Environmental Wellbeing objective within the 

Council’s Corporate Wellbeing Plan: Communities protect, enhance and promote 
our environment and countryside.  
 

8.3   Through completion of other self-evaluation responses; we will also be able to 
demonstrate our team’s contribution to support progress against the following 
objectives: 

 People are empowered to live independently within their communities, where 
they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health; and 

 People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the needs of 
businesses, with a developing, safe infrastructure that establishes Merthyr Tydfil 
as an attractive destination. 

 
 
 
JUDITH JONES 
CHIEF OFFICER PLANNING & 
NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES 

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES 
CABINET MEMBER FOR PLANNING & 

NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES  
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

List the Background 
documents which have 
been relied on in 
preparing the report. 
E.g. previous minutes of 
relevant committees 

 
 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

 

 
Page 24



 
 

Self-Evaluation Process Cycle: 4 months x 3 
 
 
    Internal challenge      External challenge 
 
 
 
 
 

                  
          
     

SER Question # 
Evidence and 
judgment 

 ESLT              

 CRPPH             According to 

 SMB                CO structure 

 SLT 

 TBC 

Scrutiny 

SER  

Question # 
SER  

Question # 

SER  

Question # 

On completion of the 3 key questions; thematic Performance 
Board sessions would be scheduled in Months 12-13 - here there 

would be challenge on the overall position statement 

Months  
1-2  

Month 3 

Month 4 

Months  
5-6  

Months  
9-10  

Month 7 Month 11 

Month 8 Month 12 

Appendix 1 

P
age 25



Performance Board 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Analysis of commonalities     Report to CMT to identify support needed to drive 
improvement 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

BEST START 
 
Overall Position 
Statement 
 
Business Improvement 
Plans 

Priorities for Improvement  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Business Improvement 
Plans 

WORKING LIFE 
 
Overall Position 
Statement 
 
Business Improvement 
Plans 

Priorities for Improvement  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Business Improvement 
Plans 

ENVIRONMENTAL 
WELLBEING 

Overall Position Statement 
 
Business Improvement 
Plans 

LIVING WELL 
 
Overall Position 
Statement 
 
Business Improvement 
Plans 

Priorities for Improvement  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Business Improvement 
Plans 

Priorities for 
Improvement  
 
 
 
 
 
Business Improvement 
Plans 

 

SUMMONING 

CIRCLE 

Best Start 

Working Life 

Environmental Wellbeing 

Living Well 

Finance & 
Accounting 

HR & Legal 

ICT 

Corporate Communications 

Page 26



Page 1 of 37 
 

 

                                                               

Question 1:  Outcomes 

Neighbourhood Services, Planning and Countryside / MASTER TECHNICAL COPY 

 

SUMMARY STATEMENT 

 
 

 

  

1.1 How good are outcomes for the community? ADEQUATE 

1.2 Is there evidence of continuous improvement or excellence in 
customer results? 

ADEQUATE 

1.3 How has the service improved the wellbeing and attitudes towards 
learning of children and young people? 

<N/A> 

 

REMEMBER:  

When completing your form, please try to be evaluative rather than descriptive and focus on the impact and outcomes for 

people and the environment.  In your evaluation identify what you consider to be strengths and areas for improvement and be 

brief, referencing the supporting evidence.   

Responses should consider the requirement to demonstrate the five ways of working; (e.g.) capture the requirements and 

contributions of collaborative working arrangements etc. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Merthyr Tydfil County 

Borough Council 

 

Self-Evaluation Report  

Question 1: Outcomeso

n 1: 

Governance (for Performance & Scrutiny use only) 

                  Date: 

Form completed and received:  16/08/2019      

Internal challenge - session:   22/08/2019                                                                

Corporate Management Team session:         DD/MM/YYYY                                      

Reviewed at Scrutiny:           16/09/2019 

Appendix 2 

Page 27



Page 2 of 37 
 

QUESTION 1:  OUTCOMES 

 

     
     
Question 1.1:  How good are outcomes for the community? 
 
 
 

 
ADEQUATE  

     
EVALUATION: When answering the question, consider the following: 
 

 Wellbeing objectives; 

 Current performance, comparable data, trends 

 Historic results, benchmark data 

 Similar providers 

 

 
 
 

 
HIGHWAYS 

 The Highways Division makes a direct contribution to the Council’s wellbeing objectives, by being committed 
to providing people who live, work and travel within Merthyr Tydfil with a well maintained highway network 
infrastructure, by carrying out minor and major highway repairs, drainage resolution and street-lighting 
preservation. This links to our shared value of a more prosperous, resilient and healthier Wales. Also through 
our 5 ways of working it focuses on the future of working life with the needs of businesses developing safe 
infrastructure and making Merthyr Tydfil an attractive destination. This also references, through the PSB 
wellbeing plan, sustainable transport that attracts people to live, work and play. 

 Highways recognises that its activities and operations have an impact on the environment and is committed 
to conserving natural resources, operating in a manner sensitive to the environment and complying with all 
relevant legislation. As one of MTCBC five ways working objectives highways is currently in collaboration 
with Caerphilly CBC to cleanse the gullies within Merthyr. All gully waste gets recycled which is not only cost 
effective but contributes towards the Council’s recycling targets.  Other eco-friendly practices include the 
use of low carbon tarmacadam and recycled sub-base when carrying out highway maintenance work.  

 We achieve safe passage for highway users by effective implementation of the Highways Act 1980 
legislation, which includes regular safety inspections.  By ensuring a safe passage for highway users it 
enables Merthyr Tydfil’s communities to access daily activities and to have active and healthy lifestyles and 
to meet one of Merthyr Tydfil’s 4 objectives. Sustainable transport that attracts people to live, work and 
play. 
 

Key achievements over the past 12 months include: 

 100% of 505 Priority Emergency works-orders were completed on time the same as 2017/18 

 44% of the 1484 Priority 1 works-orders were completed on time, an increase of 2% compared to 2017/18 

 55% of the 460 Priority 2 works-orders were completed on time, and increase of 24% compared to 2017/18 

 62% of the 55 Priority 3 works-orders were completed on time, an increase of 14% compared to 2017/18 

 Overall, 58% of the 2450 works-order were completed on time, an increase of 4% compared to 2017/18 

 2450 works orders were completed in 2018/19, of which; 

 61% were Priority 1 

 17% were Priority 2 

 2% were Priority 3 

 The other 20% of work-orders relate to dealing with emergencies.   

JUDGEMENT

: 

Current Position: 

Page 28



Page 3 of 37 
 

 Other main Highway functions undertaken to provide a safe and sustainable highway network have included the 

following: 

 71.7 km (132-2 lanes) of one lane roads of A, B and C roads have been surveyed, which has contributed to the 

prioritisation of work-orders in making roads safe.  THS/12 indicator shows a consistent year on year 3.6% 

decrease in the percentage of poor condition ‘A’ roads.  However, this measure only includes A, B and C roads 

which consists of 22% (75km) of Merthyr Tydfil’s total highway network. The unclassified highways network 

consists of another 259km, which is not measured but still has to be maintained and kept safe. This links into a 

more prosperous Wales. 

 The daily reprioritising of outstanding work-orders has led to a 33% increase in the number PE works-order 

having to be completed over the last four years.  This said, 100% of PE work- orders were completed or made 

safe on time in 2018/19. 

 The gully cleansing provision is on course to achieve its target of cleaning 5,000 gullies within the County 

Borough, which helps to meet the healthier Wales goal and one of Merthyr’s 4 objectives to protect, enhance 

and promote  the environment for communities and reduce drainage issues, such as flooding. 

 72 gritting runs were completed in 2018/19 enabling safer access to main arteries within communities, including 

town centres, hospitals and other essential services. This links in with one of Merthyr’s 4 objectives - PSB 

wellbeing plan – for lifestyles health and vulnerability and economy infrastructure.  

 In addition, Highways is responsible for fulfilling the Council’s statutory duty of maintaining the street lights that 

are installed within the County Borough, to help create an enriching and safer environment for local 

communities. Helping to reduce crime and enhancing night-time ambience and quality of life. This links in with 

one of Merthyr’s 4 objectives - PSB wellbeing plan – to promote safe, confident, strong and thriving 

communities.  

 375 street lighting failures were repaired in 2018/19, helping to provide a safer environment for highway users.  

99.97% of repairs were completed on time, a slight increase of 0.05% compared to 2017/18. On average, in 

2018/19 street lights are restored within 2 days, the same as 2017/18. This links in with one of Merthyr’s 4 

objectives - Political Priorities – of supporting a strong sustainable diverse and successful environment. 

 The introduction of LED street lighting in 2013/14 has led to an 85% decrease in street lighting failures, a 72% 

reduction of energy consumption and CO2 emissions. This links in with one of Merthyr’s 4 objectives - of 

supporting a strong sustainable diverse and successful environment. 

 
DC PLANNING 

 The planning system is a statutory process and as such its function must be carried out in accordance with 
the principles of sustainable development as defined in the Well-being of Future Generations Act.  As 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW) points out ‘the planning system is central to achieving sustainable development 
in Wales. It provides the legislative and policy framework to manage the use and development of land in the 
public interest so that it contributes positively to the achievement of the well-being goals’. Consideration of 
all the ‘Five Ways of Working’, established by the Well-being of Future Generations Act, is an intrinsic part of 
the planning process. Therefore, planning has a pivotal role in delivering the Councils Shared Vision, the 
Public Service Board Wellbeing Plan and the political priorities of Merthyr Tydfil. 

 In 2018/19 Merthyr Tydfil was the best performing local authority in Wales in terms of determining 
applications in 8 weeks. We were also the best in Wales in terms of the average time taken to determine 
application (50 days compared to 81 days across Wales). This helps all sections of the community to either 
realise their personal aspirations or take advantage of the benefits arising from other types of development. 
This may be as simple as granting permission for someone to extend their house or granting planning 
permission for a housing development which includes the provision of affordable housing or the 
construction and/or renovation of a building(s) which encourage economic development. The quicker 
applications are determined the faster developments can be constructed. The process of determining 
applications, which includes making decisions in accordance with the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan 
and taking into consideration other legislation (e.g. the Environment Act), comments from the general public 

Page 29



Page 4 of 37 
 

and responses from other external bodies and customers is therefore fundamental in achieving the Councils 
Shared Vision. The effective communication between Officers and Members and other internal departments 
is also essential to fulfilling this overarching vision. 

 Although the speed of determining applications has been excellent, the Committee process (which is there 
to determine major/more complex applications) is significantly slowing down the decision making process 
due to the Committee requesting Fact Finding Visits (FFV). For example between Oct 2018 and July 2019, the 
Committee resolved to undertake a FFV for 63% (i.e. 10 out of 16) of the applications on the agenda. This 
adversely affects the speed of achieving the above goals and visions.   

 
BC PLANNING 

 Generally the service performs well taking in to account the limited resources, the section comprises of 2 
Building Control Officers 1 Technical admin officer who is also the administrator for the newly created 
Sustainable Drainage Adoption Board (SAB) and 1 Manger who also has a case workload.  

 As a department we contribute to the Public Service Board (PSB) Wellbeing Plan (Community Resilience and 
Wellbeing) and the Focus on the Future (FotF) Plan (Working Life and Living Well theme) as we ensure the 
safety and protection of the community by ensuring that new and altered buildings comply with current 
Building Regulations and existing buildings do not become structurally dangerous.  In addition to this, we 
contribute to the Environmental Wellbeing objective (promoting and supporting the use of renewable and 
low carbon energy) as the department through Part L of the building Regulations (conservation of fuel and 
power) promotes and ensures compliance of renewable and lowering carbon based energy. The department 
also contributes to the Living Well Wellbeing objective (Services that provide people with the ability to live in 
their own home) through the implementation of Part M of the Building Regulations (Assess to and the use of 
buildings) this ensures all new dwellings have provisions helping towards life time homes.  

 The department also contributes towards the Wellbeing Goals in particular a prosperous Wales through 
ensuring building are built and altered, meeting the requirements for carbon reduction and helping act on 
climate change, and also the gaol of a wales of cohesive communities through ensuring buildings and 
structures with in the community are safe to live in, visit work and use.  

 We are also developing our approach to the Sustainable Development Principles (the 5 ways of working) as 
the department due to its specialised and qualified staff in construction provide support to internal 
departments particularly Planning, Property, Regeneration and Estates (Involvement, Collaboration and 
Integration). We also have close working and shared resources links with other Welsh Local Authority 
Building Control departments, sharing specialisms such as fire engineering and participate in a partnership 
scheme with all other Local Authorities in England and Wales ( Collaboration)  

 The service is particularly vulnerable to staff absenteeism or staff leaving as the service is operating at 
capacity and any alteration to staff numbers for even a short period has an immediate impact or an increase 
in workload. With new and more complex legislation there is added pressure on the department; it should 
also be noted that the service for much of its responsibilities is in direct competition with the private sector 
(Approved Inspectors) for its fee earning function (Building Regulations). This puts added pressure on staff to 
act as ‘sales persons’, to retain and win work. 

 
During 2018 the Building Control Department has: 

 Received 403 Building Regulation applications;  

 Carried out approximately 3,500 site inspections, not including enforcement or dangerous structures;  

 Investigated 117 unauthorised works with the majority resulting in Building Regulation applications ;  

 90 dangerous structures were reported investigated and enforcement action taken;  

 The service has met its statutory targets regarding application checked/decision rates, (5 weeks up to 8 
weeks); 

 Provided legislation and compliance advice and awareness to Agents and Contractors; 

 Pre application advice is encouraged, and although free due to the completive nature of the function it 
provides an early contact with the applicant/agent creating a better customer focus approach while having 
the benefit of a quicker approval rate and a more achieving better more sustainable compliant schemes;  

 Has contributed in the setting up and implementation of the new Suds legislation and SAB board that came 
into force in January 2019; and 

 The manger attends regional meetings of building control mangers helping towards collaborative working 

Page 30



Page 5 of 37 
 

and sharing of information allowing a greater consistence to a common approach across all 22 Welsh 
Authorities.   
 

During the first quarter of 2019 the Building Control Department has: 

 Received 67 Building Regulation applications; 

 Approximately 900 site inspections have been carried out; and    

 Investigated 19 potential unauthorised. 
 
WASTE SERVICES  
Introduction. 

 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council`s Waste services functions are governed by UK and Welsh 
Government legislation along with the Welsh Government strategy (Towards Zero Waste). Functions 
provided by the Waste services department are: 

o Residual waste Collections and Treatment (Domestic and trade). 
o Recycling Collections and Treatment (Domestic and trade). 
o Food waste collections (Domestic and trade). 
o Garden waste Collections (Domestic and trade). 
o Bulky waste Collections (Domestic and trade). 
o Clinical waste Collections. 
o Household Waste & Recycling Centres. 
o Waste transfer Station. 
o Behaviour Change (Enforcement and Education) 
o Waste Data recording and reporting. 

 
Key legislation: 

o Environmental Protection Act 1990 
o Environment (wales) Act 2016. 
o Controlled Waste Regulations (England and Wales) 2010 
o Waste (Wales) measures 2010 
o Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) 2010 
o Health and safety at work act 1974 

 

 Key drivers for the Waste services department are: 
o Welsh Government`s recovery rates for the Recycling, composting and preparation for re-use that 

are set out in the Waste (Wales) measures 2010. In 2019/20 the target increased to 64%. In 2024/25 
the target increases to 70% and aims to achieve zero waste by 2050. Since 2016/17 we have 
continued to achieve the annual 58% target. 

 Waste Services has 2 Performance Indicators of: 
o The amount of waste recycled, composted or prepared for re-use. 
o The amount of residual waste (kg) generated per person per year. 

 

 In 2015 Merthyr Tydfil CBC adopted the Welsh Government`s collections blueprint and Collaborative Change 
Programme. 

 
Residual Collections and Treatment (Domestic and trade). 

 Since April 2016, we have been in contract, as part of a hub of authorities (Rhondda Cynon Taf, Blaenau 
Gwent and Torfaen) led by Rhondda Cynon Taf with Viridor Waste Management LTD to dispose of our 
residual waste through Energy from Waste (EFW). This is a 25 year contract that expires in March 2041.  

 MTCBC has landfilled less than 7% of its waste each year since the commencement of the EFW contract, 
achieving its landfill allowance Performance Indicator considerably. 

 In 2018/19 Welsh authorities were given a new PI of kg/person/year. Each authority was required to set 
their own PI ensuring that there was a reduction in residual waste generated per person each year. We set 
our PI to correspond to the annual tonnages projected in the EFW contract. These tonnages decrease each 
year until 2021 where they plateaued. 

Page 31



Page 6 of 37 
 

 Residents are provided with 140 litre wheeled bins which is collected fortnightly. This is collected by 3 RCV, s 
and a bespoke Farms vehicle. There is an admin and delivery charge for all replacement bins. 

 Assisted collections are provided to householders who are unable to take their refuse to the kerbside for 
recycling. 

 Exceptions to the above would be householders who produce excess non-recyclable waste (AHP, S or Pet 
waste). These residents can be provided with a 240 litre bin based on a successful application process. A 
biennial audit is carried out on all additional capacity bins to evaluate whether they are still needed by the 
residents. 

 Trade refuse is collected by one RCV on an individual business contractual schedule. Businesses are provided 
with various size wheeled bins depending on cost and service needs. 

 The residual from HWRC, s, Street cleansing and Parks also forms part of the Viridor contract. 

 In April 2019 Merthyr County Borough Council introduced a charge for new/replacement bins to cover 
admin and delivery costs. 

 
Recycling Collections and Treatment (Domestic and trade). 

 We currently have contracts for six kerbside collected materials such as: (Glass, Paper, Cardboard, Steel, 
Aluminium and HDPE and PET plastic containers). These are collected weekly by eight bespoke Romaquip 
kerbside vehicles (driver +2). The materials are brought back to our Transfer Station (unit 20) where they are 
Treated, Bulked and then baled ready collection by our contracted re – processors.  

 Householders are provided with 90 litre blue reusable bags (cans and plastics), 55 litre black recycling box for 
(Card and Glass and an additional box for Paper). Through welsh Government funding certain areas of the 
borough have been provided with Trolley boxes for their Recycling. Through Welsh government funding flats 
and Residential premises have been provided with bespoke Recycling frames for residential complexes. 

 A bespoke vehicle Farms vehicle has been purchased by welsh government funding which now collects 
kerbside recycling from farms and outlining properties.  

 Trade recycling is collected by one RCV/pod vehicle on an individual business contractual schedule. 
Businesses are provided with various size containers depending on cost and service needs. The material 
streams collected are as the same as the domestic kerbside recycling. 

 Small Electrical Items and Textiles are collected on the kerbside also by the farms vehicle and the eight 
romaquips weekly. 

 Assisted collections are provided to householders who are unable to take their recycling to the kerbside for 
collection. This is provided based on a successful application process. 

 A participation monitoring exercise was carried out in 2016/17 to gauge the amount of households taking 
part in the dry recycling service. 2 collection rounds were selected, that covered all of the main 5 ACORN 
categories, and monitored over a 3 week period. The average participation rate was 78%. As no further 
exercise has been done to date this figure is used for reporting purposes. 

 
Food waste collections (Domestic and trade). 

 Since June 2015, we have been in contract, as part of a hub of authorities (Rhondda Cynon Taf and Newport) 
lead by Rhondda Cynon Taf with Biogen LTD to treat our food waste through anaerobic digestion to produce 
electricity, gas and soil improver. This is a 15 year contract that expires in March 2031.  

 Food waste is collected weekly via our eight romaquip kerbside vehicles. 

 Householders are provided with 5 litre and 23 litre blue food caddies to put out for their kerbside collections 
weekly. All residents are also provided with food bags.  

 Trade food is collected by one RCV/pod vehicle on an individual business contractual schedule. Businesses 
are provided with various size containers depending on cost and service needs. 
  

Garden waste Collections (Domestic and trade). 

 Since April 2015, we have been in contract with Bryn composting for all our garden waste. This is a contract 
that ends in May 2020.  

 Garden waste is collected seasonally from the months of April 01st – November 30th.  

 Trade garden waste is collected by our hiab vehicle on an individual business contractual schedule. 
 

Bulky waste Collections (Domestic and trade). 

Page 32



Page 7 of 37 
 

 Bulky household waste item are collected on a chargeable request basis from households within the County 
Borough. The charge is based on the collection of up to 3 items.  

 Items that are deemed re-useable are stored at Unit 5 for collection by our partner organisation, Furniture 
Revival. 

 Items that are not deemed re-useable are taken to the Household Waste & Recycling Centres.  

 Utilising space in the Transfer station/depot a potential area for a re-use shop is being developed. Welsh 
Government CCP funding has been used to purchase a vehicle and plant & equipment to operate a re-use 
shop at the depot. 

 
Clinical waste Collections. 

 Clinical waste (sharps and dialysis) is collected by MTCBC from local residents who require the service, on 
behalf of the Cwmtaff Health Board.  
 

Household Waste & Recycling Centres. 

 Following the natural termination of the private organisation that managed MTCBC, s household waste and 
recycling centres (HWRC, s) Merthyr Council have been managing their own HWRC, s since 01st September 
2018. 

 We have now built two sorting stations at Dowlais and one at Aberfan to carry out a black bag checking 
operation on both sites to ensure we maximise our recycling. Resident’s bags are checked before they are 
allowed to deposit them in the residual bin. 

 Permit is now in MTCBC’s control. 

 Improvement works have been carried out on site such us Drainage, New site office and welfare facilities 
and resurfacing works to zone 3. New welfare facilities include wash and drying rooms for the site staff. 

 Since September 2018 we have entered into multiple contracts to off take the material that’s being 
deposited at the sites by the public. i.e. Wood, Plasterboard, UPVC, Carpets, Mattresses, Sheet glass, Hard 
plastics, Garden waste and earth and stone are all contracted to Bryn Recycling/Bryn composting where we 
receive 97% + recycling/composting rates for this material. Ferrous metal, Non Ferrous metal and 
Automotive Batteries are hauled by ourselves to GLJ recycling where we get 100% recycling for this material. 
All the above contracts are 3 years with a +1 +1 option which could see us in contract until August 2023. 
Steel, aluminium, glass, plastic ( PET and HDPE), cardboard and paper all get hauled by ourselves to our 
transfer station at unit 20 where they are treated and baled Textiles are contracted to and collected by 
Wilcox LTD in which Merthyr council are the lead authority. Engine oil, Gas bottles, cooking oil, paints and 
asbestos are all collected from the sites upon request and are not in contract.  

 We allow 3rd party organisations such as Merthyr valleys homes to use the HWRC,s to deposit recyclable 
material such as TVs/monitors, cold units, fluorescent tubes, LDA and SDA. 

 We run a paint reuse scheme on site where as Members of the public can collect paint free of charge.  

 The HWRC, s are also used for internal services such as cleansing, Parks and Fly tipping to dispose of their 
waste through our current contractual arrangements. 

 We operate a van permit scheme on site where Non trade waste brought onto site in vans etc. have to have 
a permit.  

 We are currently collecting Reuse items on both sites in readiness for the Reuse shop which we plan on 
opening in September/October. Items that we are collecting range from small electrical to bulky furniture. 

 
Waste transfer Station. 

 Since June 2015 when the recycling service changed from a co-mingled collection to a source separated 
recycling service MTCBC have managed and operated our own permitted waste transfer station at Units 3 & 
4 on the Merthyr Ind Est in Pentrebach. In March 2019 a new permitted site at Unit 20 Merthyr Ind Est was 
developed and operated to treat recycling collected at the kerbside. The site provides additional space to 
manage the recycling in a more efficient manner. 

 Treatment of recyclable materials at the site include the sorting of cans from plastic containers and the 
additional separation of aluminium from steel cans. 

 As the site treats more than 1,000 tonnes of packaging per annum plastics containers and cans are sampled, 
to determine quality, at regular intervals as required by the MRF regulations 2014. Quarterly reports are sent 
to the NRW. 

Page 33



Page 8 of 37 
 

 The new site will be the central depot for all waste services as well as the Parks, Fly-tipping and Grounds 
Maintenance departments. 

 
Behaviour Change (Enforcement and Education) 
Enforcement 

 Ongoing enforcement of the Council`s No side waste policy has continued over the year. 

 2 Waste & Recycling Wardens monitor the 3 refuse collection rounds daily to identify households that place 
side waste or top-hatted bins out for collection. Where a household is identified the Wardens follow the 
enforcement policy process.  

 Since the introduction of the policy in September 2011 the amount of offences has declined. 
 
Education 

 The waste & Recycling wardens carry out audits of refuse bins when a resident applies for an additional 
capacity bin.  

 Educational visits are provided by waste officers and Wardens, on request and if the resource is available, to 
local schools, voluntary and community groups. 

 Events are attended by officers and Wardens to promote our waste/recycling services along with the 
national sustainable waste management messages. 

 Competitions are held within schools and council buildings to improve the quantities of materials collected 
for recycling as well as raising awareness to those engaged. These include WEEE, card and batteries. 

 Promotional giveaways are provided to schools and community groups on request and if available. 

 Press releases to promote service change and disruption are utilised. 

 Promotional messages are placed on the refuse and recycling vehicles. 

 Social media posts/tweets have become the favoured method of promoting the sustainable waste 
management messages. 

 The council website is continually updated with information related to specific projects or service changes 
and improvements.  

 Relevant and current waste services articles are included in the quarterly council Contact magazine. 

 Letter drops and door knocks are carried out as required to promote or enforce in relevant areas of the 
County Borough. 

 
Waste Data recording and reporting. 

 All material contracts that are in place have special terms and conditions in them which enforce our re 
processors to hand over all waste/recycling data in a strict time frame to allow us to process.  

 All Waste data is collected for all the kerbside, trade and refuse and recycling/reuse and entered into the 
main waste spreadsheet for recording. HWRC site manager collates all HWRC data and enters into a daily 
and monthly spreadsheet. This is then sent through to the Technical assistant to be entered into main 
spreadsheet on a monthly basis. 

 All waste data is entered onto Waste Data Flow on a quarterly basis for reporting to Welsh government. 

 Site Manager records HWRC data and reports this also through the HWRC, s quarterly returns. 

 We collect all data in compliance with section 34 of the Environmental protection Act 1990. The collection of 
data also has us to comply with the wales waste measure 2010. 

 
STREET CLEANSING 
Overview 

 The quality of the local environment is important to the community. Local environmental quality has several 
dimensions. These include: 

 how places look and are perceived; 

 how safe and happy people feel about living in an area; and 

 how attractive areas are to workers, visitors and existing and new business investors. 
 

 A depleted natural environment blighted by fly tipping and litter impacts not only on our long-term health 
and well-being, but also on our ability to grow our economy.  It can affect both the tourism and inward 
investment potential of an area, as well as the value of its homes. 

Page 34



Page 9 of 37 
 

 

 The percentage of highways inspected of a high or acceptable standard of cleanliness is a Public 
Accountability Measure (PAM) that measures the ‘High or acceptable standard of cleanliness’ is defined 
as achieving Grades A, B+ or B of the Code of Practice on Litter and Refuse (2007), namely:  

 Grade A No litter or refuse  

 Grade B+ No more than 3 small pieces of litter  

 Grade B Predominately free of litter and refuse apart from some small items.  
 
Current status: 

 The percentage of highways inspected of a high or acceptable standard of cleanliness is 96.6%.  This is above 
the welsh average of 93.9% and currently ranks Merthyr Tydfil 8th in Wales.   

 Street cleansing has been heavily affected by government cuts and the corporate change policy 

implemented in waste services. Whilst 5 years ago all streets throughout wards were litter picked weekly it is 

now the case of once every 8-10 days and potentially longer if graffiti, needle complaints or dog fouling 

clearance is prioritised. (long term – to consider introduction of apprenticeship schemes). 

 Weekend hot spot areas have increased in such a way it is not always possible to attend all hot spots within 
local time restraints and some areas are having to be dealt with first thing Monday morning.  

 In 2018/19 the local authority received 676 street cleansing related inquires. 2017/18 there were 704. (long 

term – not sustainable, continuous improvement will not be achieved with reduced resources).  

 Due to Councillor and public demand approx. Approximately 40 extra litter and dog fouling bins have been 
installed throughout the county borough and this is proving resource intensive to empty as and when 
required. (long term – not sustainable to continue adding bins without the required resources).  

 There are over 40 community and volunteer groups within the county borough (collaboration & Integration) 
and in collaboration with Keep Wales Tidy street cleansing assist with collections of litter which is also 
recycled at source (prevention) as all cans and plastics collected are recycled.  

 Street cleansing currently has 2 SLAs working in collaboration with the Leisure Trust and Multi storey car 
park to sweep and litter pick in their respective areas thereby ensuring the environment is kept safe, clean 
and free from needle sticks (PSB wellbeing plan). 

 Collect needle sticks, dead animals and remove graffiti in collaboration with Community Safety, the Police 
and Barod. 

 Staff also carry two sets of bags when litter picking to ensure we recycle as much as possible, 1 black bag non 
recyclable and 1 green bag recyclable (long term, sustainability). 

 Street cleansing contribute to the Environmental strategy on a page and our shared vision in the following 
ways – A wales of cohesive communities and a globally responsible Wales, also removing and enforcing fly 
tipping and cleaning streets ties into the shared vision and SOAP. 

 Environmental cleansing & Enforcement manager also attends Caru Cymru forums, Community safety 
meetings along with ASD meetings and weekly managerial neighbourhood service meetings (Integration). 

 Legislation in street cleansing is largely controlled using the Environmental protection act 1990. 
 
FLY-TIPPING 
Overview 

 Fly-tipping is the common term used to describe waste illegally deposited on land and it is a significant 
problem for all Local Authorities. Fly-tipping is a blight on our communities and poses a threat to humans 
and wildlife, damages our environment and spoils enjoyment of our towns and countryside. A depleted 
natural environment, blighted by fly-tipping impacts not only our long-term health and wellbeing, but also 
affects tourism, inward investment potential and our ability to grow our economy.  Fly-tipping contributes to 
the high level outcomes of the: 

o Single Integrated Plan – People enjoy a vibrant attractive, safe and sustainable place in which to live, 
work, play and visit and, the 

o Corporate Plan – People in Merthyr Tydfil will live in communities that are sustainable, clean and 
energy efficient. 

 The average number of days taken to remove fly tipped waste off council owned is a National Strategic 

Page 35

http://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/1485/corporate-plan-annual-delivery-document-201516.pdf


Page 10 of 37 
 

Indicator (NSI) that measures the effectiveness and timeliness with which local authorities react to reported 

incidents of fly tipped waste.  

 The local authority has a legal duty to collect and report the information.  

 

Over the past 12 months we have: 

 Recorded all reported incidents of fly tipping; 

 Improved workflow through the use of technology, namely iPads, allowing us to work more efficiently and 

respond to complaints in a more timely manner; 

 Implemented a fly tipping ‘Report It’ Form that links directly with the Council’s complaints system; 

 Introduced fly tipping fixed penalty notices (FPN) as an extra enforcement tool; 

 Continued to serve notices on businesses under s.34 of the Environmental Protection Act (1990) to establish 

how they are disposing of their commercial waste in order to reduce fly tipping in the County Borough; 

 Worked in collaboration with Merthyr Valleys Homes (MVH) and Wales and West Housing Association 

(WWHA); 

 Worked in collaboration with South Wales Police (SWP);   

 Began recycling as much materials at source as reasonably possible; 

 Assisted in numerous community clean ups with internal and external partners; 

 Worked in partnership with neighbouring Local Authorities; 

 Had 10 successful prosecutions through Magistrates Court for fly tipping and trade waste offences; 

 Attended numerous meetings with Fly tipping Action Wales (FtAW), Natural Resources Wales (NRW) and 

neighbouring authority’s to agree on a more consistent approach to fly tipping enforcement; 

 Implemented the use of fly tipping tape to encourage potential offenders to remove their own waste to 

reduce the amount disposed of by the council; 

 Implemented calling cards to gain intelligence on alleged fly tipping offenders; 

 Established a list of hot spot fly tipping areas within the County Borough;  

 
ENERGY/CARBON MANAGEMENT 

 Although we are seeing a year on year decrease in Carbon Dioxide (CO2) emissions this is mainly due to the 
fact that the carbon conversion factors for electricity are being reduced due to cleaner electrical generation 
through renewables.  Between 2016 and 2018 the carbon factor for electricity reduced by 32%.  Limited 
work has been done to date to increase energy efficiency due to the lack of resources and availability of 
funding. 

 There is no established funding for energy efficiency/carbon management measures to be implemented 

 There are no published figures amongst Welsh L.A.’s to compare with 

 We are working with the WG Energy Service and ReFit Cymru to tender a service to implement carbon 
reduction within our buildings but this is being hampered by lack of resources. 

 We only measure buildings with DEC’s which is a fraction of our building stock 

 New Energy Engineer post created and filled in Dec 18 to improve on energy efficiency and carbon 
reduction. Since May 2019 Energy Engineer has been covering the Energy Officer responsibilities’ which 
includes contract management of energy supplies, meter breakdowns, invoice queries and dealing with day 
to day mechanical building maintenance issues. This has left very little time for the Energy Engineer to focus 
on proactive, energy and cost saving actions. 

 No automatic meter reading systems on MTCBC gas and water supplies make it very difficult to measure, 
monitor and identify savings in these areas. 

 
PARKS 
Overview 
The parks department currently manages and maintains the County Boroughs main parks and the bulk of the public 
open space.  This includes Five main parks, 55 fixed play areas, 25 playing fields and associated buildings.    
We have a range of parks and play facilities across the County Borough which are highly valued by communities, 

Page 36



Page 11 of 37 
 

providing visitor hubs and centres from which health and educational activities can take place.  They provide 
important habitats and connectivity corridors.   It is intrinsically linked to the Councils Corporate Strategy- 
Communities Protect, enhance and promote our natural and built environment and countryside. 
Known Benefits from well managed greenspace:- 
There is evidence that a well-managed urban environment can increase economic growth at a local level, attracting 
inward investment and increased visitor spend. 
Good quality greenspace can provide a safe, welcoming environment for people and increase levels of development; 
attract skilled workers and inward investment. 
Greenspace encourages greater social activity and more visitors than barren areas.  Residents get to know their 
neighbours and crime is lower in areas with more natural environment. 
There is growing international evidence that contact with, or access to nature or greenspace may have beneficial 
implications for psychological and physiological health. 
Increasing physical activity increases people’s healthy lifespans and reduces incidence of chronic disease. 
The connections between greenspace and health include improved air quality. 
 

 Despite efficiency savings made within the service resulting in a 56% staff cut in the last nine years, we have 
strived to maintain the core elements such as the 5 main parks namely Cyfarthfa, Thomastown, Treharris, 
Troedyrhiw and Taff Bargoed parks.   
These provide valuable spaces for social interaction and exercise-  (A Wales of Cohesive Communities, A 
Healthier Wales) 

 We maintain the County Boroughs 55 fixed play areas.  This includes regular inspection and maintenance by 
qualified staff. 

 Provision of the County Boroughs sports pitches and changing rooms.  Last year only 14 of our playing fields 
were actually used for organised sports matches.  However, the value of spaces for informal play has been 
recognised by the council and we maintain these (mothballed) pitches to allow this use to continue. 

 Grass cutting frequencies have been reduced throughout the County Borough which has received a mixed 
public reaction.  However, this has major benefits for pollinators and biodiversity and plays a part in the 
council’s Biodiversity recovery plan. 

 Closer links with the countryside section has enabled us to look at how we currently maintain areas and how 
we can adapt to new ways of working in the future.  Maintenance in the future will pay more attention to the 
council’s long term aims with regard to biodiversity and the Environment Act. 

 The department has an aging workforce and although some apprentices have been started this needs to be 
expanded as there will be a shortage of skilled staff in the future. 

 Public satisfaction surveys have not been carried out in recent years and interaction is mostly via traditional 
means such as the complaints system or through local councillors. 

 
ENGINEERING AND TRAFFIC  
Overview 
In general the department has performed adequately in comparison to own historic performance due to budget cuts 
and a reduction of staff. The department covers a number of service areas; Structures, Highways Development 
Control, Land Drainage, Flood Risk Management, Sustainable Drainage Approval Body, Traffic Management and 
Road Safety. Due to a reduction of staff there is currently only one member of staff working in each service area 
therefore the department is vulnerable when staff take leave or are absent through illness. If a member of staff is off 
work then no one else has the capacity to cover that position and work falls behind. Due to additional requirements 
within new legislation workload is also increasing which is creating further pressure on staff and budgets.    
 
The Engineering and Traffic department currently manages and maintains Council assets in accordance with relevant 
legislation and codes of practice such as; Highways Act 1980, Reservoirs Act 1975, Mines (Tips) and Quarries Act 
1969, Traffic Management Act 2004, Road Safety Act 2006, Wales Active Travel Act 2013, Flood and Water 
Management Act 2010. The department also carries out the design, project management and site supervision of 
engineering projects for each service area and also provides these functions for other departments within the 
Council.  
 
As a department we contribute to the Public Service Board (PSB) Wellbeing Plan and the Focus on the Future (FotF) 

Page 37



Page 12 of 37 
 

Plan in many areas.  
 
During 2018/19 the status of the department is as follows: 

 Disused Tip Inspections: Tip inspections are a statutory duty in accordance with the Mines (Tips) and 
Quarries Act 1969 which in turn contributes to areas of the 7 wellbeing goals (Community Resilience) and 
Wellbeing goals of the authority. In 2018 only 18 tip inspections out of 131 were carried out.  

 Bridge Inspections: Highway structures require inspection every 2 years to meet our statutory duty, which 
would contribute to the Economy and Infrastructure goals of the authority. In 2018 only 10 bridge 
inspections took place out of 107. 

 Flood Risk Management: Engineering implemented a series of Flood Risk awareness raising sessions within 
community schools. Engineering and its front line staff continuously carry out maintenance work with our 
communities to ensure flood risk is kept to a minimum. This supports the Environmental Wellbeing goals of 
the authority.   

 Reservoir Inspections: This is a statutory duty in accordance with the Reservoirs Act 1975 and meets the 
Economy and Infrastructure goals of the authority. In 2018 40% of inspections were carried out which is less 
than previous years.  

 Structural calculations: This service is provided to Building Control to check and approve structural 
calculations to ensure they are able to determine applications within 5 weeks. In 2018 100% of calculations 
were checked on time. This meets the Community Resilience and Wellbeing goals of the authority. 

 Abnormal Load Notices: Applications from haulage companies to obtain permission to travel over highway 
structures require determination within 3 days and 100% of notices were approved within this timescale in 
2018. This meets the Economy and Infrastructure goals of the authority.   

 Road Safety: Training provided to schools is continuing and the number of schools participating in the junior 
road safety officer programme has increased by 2 from the previous year therefore we now engage with 15 
out of 22 schools. There is no capacity within the section to increase the number beyond this. This supports 
the Best Start to Life goal of the authority by equipping children with road safety awareness and knowledge. 
The service also provides pre driver training to educate students and young drivers by working in 
collaboration with Merthyr College, South Wales Police and the Fire and Rescue Service. This also supports 
the Best Start to Life goal.   

 School Crossing Patrols: Due to budget cuts the number of school crossing patrols have reduced from 4 to 2.  

 Traffic Management: This service involves investigations and implementation of requests for new Traffic 
Orders, managing the implementation of Temporary Traffic Orders, and improving highway infrastructure 
within the Borough in accordance with the Highways Act 1980. This helps to achieve the Economy and 
Infrastructure goals within the PSB Wellbeing Plan.     

 Active Travel: working in partnership with the Rights of Ways department we provide a design and support 
service to deliver active travel schemes in accordance with Wales Active Travel Act 2013. This helps to 
achieve the Lifestyles, health and vulnerability goals within the PSB Wellbeing Plan.   

 Highways Development Control: MTCBC’s percentage of planning responses returned within 21 days of 96% 
places us within the top quartile for Wales and our responses to local land charge searches are currently 
running at 100% within 5 days. This helps to achieve the Economy and Infrastructure goals within the PSB 
Wellbeing Plan. 

 Sustainable Drainage Approval Body (SAB): The department has established its own SuDS Approval body to 
manage technical approval and adoption of sustainable drainage systems. The drainage section is also 
collaboratively working with two other local authorities and internal stakeholders, providing a design service 
to ensure compliance with schedule 3 of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010. This service we now 
deliver contributes to the Environmental Wellbeing goal of the authority.  

 Design, Contract Management and Site Supervision: during 2018/19 the department was involved in the 
delivery of 65 contracts ranging in value from just under £600 to £769,500. The total value of schemes was 
£1,928,405.69. Given that this represented approximately 50% of staff time the cost of delivery amounts to 
£58,077 which represents an average fee of 3.0%. This compares very favourably with the rates charged by 
Capita which was £33k for the design element only of a scheme valued at £169K (which equates to a fee of 
20%) whilst our fees also cover project management, site supervision the health and safety role required 
within the Construction Design and Management Regulations 2015 for all projects. This supports the 
Community Resilience and Wellbeing, Environmental Wellbeing,  Lifestyles, health and vulnerability, 

Page 38



Page 13 of 37 
 

Economy and Infrastructure, Working Life goals of the authority. 

 The department provides a structural design service for other departments within the council such as 
Property Services and Housing. We currently meet the all deadlines that are given. This contributes to the 
Community Resilience and Wellbeing goals of the authority. 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
HIGHWAYS 

 Take part in a number of focused workshop sessions to support the review and refocus of the Corporate 
Wellbeing Plan, enabling reflection on progress made and lessons learned; 

 The Service has a well-established Highways Network Plan that provide clear guidelines that demonstrates 
accountability for why and how the Council carries out its highways maintenance provision and helps to 
defend third party claims. 

 The effective implementation of the Winter Maintenance Plan that details explicit processes for dealing with 
adverse weather conditions.  Again, this Plan helps to defend third party claims as it highlights the Councils 
responsibilities. This links in with one of the 7 goals for Wales – A resilient Wales and PSB wellbeing plan to 
promote safe confident and thriving communities improving the wellbeing of residents. 

 The use of the YOTTA/Mayrise Database system that enables the effective management of technical 
administrative processes, as it generates highways inspection timetables monthly inspections, outstanding 
and completed works orders for highways and street lighting.  The system also stores complaints and 
accepts opening and closing permits from utilities to enable compliance and monitoring. 

 The use of LED lanterns in street lighting is reducing lighting failures, more cost-effective for the Council and 
is better for the environment. This links in with one of Merthyr’s 4 objectives – a strong sustainable, diverse 
environment. 

 The implementation of eco-friendly materials and methods, including: 

 The use of Finagrip and Micro surface dressing on A, B or C category carriageways, which not only improves 
the skid resistance, surface preservation and seals the existing carriageway from water ingress but also uses 
a low carbon material bitumen. 

 The use of traditional resurfacing 40mm Inlay that involves scarifying the existing surface and replacing with 
a new layer of asphalt or low carbon asphalt dependant on carriageway –the benefit of this safe 
infrastructure and encouraging heal lifestyles. This links in with one of Merthyr’s 4 objectives – a strong 
sustainable, diverse environment. 

 Gully waste is dispensed at the CCBC reed bed filtration facility which filters the waste to produce recycled 
clean water that is used again in the gully.  The remaining solid waste is also recycled. This links in with one 
of Merthyr’s 4 objectives – a strong sustainable, diverse environment. 

 Machine footway resurfacing is carried out when renewing of tarmac and paving footways, using low carbon 
tarmac and plastic kerbs. This links in with one of Merthyr’s 4 objectives – a strong sustainable, diverse 
environment. 

 
DC PLANNING 

 Annual Performance Report 2017-2018 (Comparison with other LPAs relating to: Average time taken to 
determine applications, Percentage of Applications Determined within the required timescales (See pages 
13-16). (See annual performance reports - https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/resident/planning-and-building-
control/annual-performance/) 

 
 
BC PLANNING 

 The department aims to determine 60% of all applications within 3 weeks and 75% within 5 weeks and 100% 
within 8 weeks, although the latter is difficult to achieve due to the nature of some applications, however 

Good Practice: 

Page 39

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/resident/planning-and-building-control/annual-performance/
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/resident/planning-and-building-control/annual-performance/


Page 14 of 37 
 

100% are checked and a response provided to the agent/applicant within 8 weeks period.  

 A same day Building Regulation inspections where requested and offers both morning and afternoon 
inspections.  

 The department strives to investigate all dangerous structures reports within 24hrs. 

 The Building Regulation function of Building Control is cost neutral 

 Good retention rates of clients in a fiercely competitive market 

 Good and close working practices and processes across departments with Development Control, Property, 
Regeneration, Estates and Environmental Health 

 Joint enforcement visits with Planning Enforcement and Environmental Health Officers 

 Report it forms on line allowing the public to report dangerous structures and unauthorised work  

 1 member of staff fluent in Welsh 

 Mentoring and training of staff and development of management skills to ensure succession planning.  
 
WASTE SERVICES 

 Reduction in Landfill of waste of more than 93%. 

 Robust contracts are in place to maximise recycling, composting and preparation for reuse. 

 Achieving high levels of recycling, composting and preparation for reuse in line with welsh government 
recycling targets. 

 Educational visits are carried out throughout schools and community groups to promote sustainable waste 
management. 

 Provide a weekly recycling service for the residents of Merthyr Tydfil. 

 Provide a fortnightly refuse collection for the residents of Merthyr Tydfil ensuring that we maximise 
recycling. 

 Provide a seasonal free of charge fortnightly garden waste collection for the residents of Merthyr Tydfil. 

 Provision of Two bespoke Household waste and Recycling Centres which allow residents of the county 
borough to recycle all of their bulky waste. 

 Provision of a proposed re use shop at our unit 20 Depot in Pentrebach where residents can donate or 
purchase re-usable items at a very low charge. 

 Information and advice is available to residents on sustainable waste management through various channels 
such as Events, Door knocking campaigns, Website, Social media and enforcement. 

 Provide a kerbside bulky collection service to the residents of Merthyr Tydfil at a reasonable charge. 

 Provision of a free clinical waste collection. 

 Allowing the private sector partners such as Merthyr Valleys homes and the voluntary sector to dispose of 
their bulky recycling through the HWRC, s. Also allow volunteer groups to dispose of their separated litter 
picked materials at the HWRC, s. 

 Additional capacity bins are provided to residents of the county borough who need them based on a 
successful application. 

 Assisted collections are provided to residents of the county borough who require them based on a successful 
application. 

 In multiple regional contracts for some materials bringing best value for money utilising economies of scale. 

 Providing an extra material stream at the HWRC’ s (cans and plastics) to maximise our recycling efforts and 
to coincide with our kerbside collections. 

 Having our own Waste transfer station allows us to treat material and sustain the best possible market price 
for our recycling. It also allows us to store high volumes of tonnages so in instances of haulage failure it does 
not impact on the residents of Merthyr county borough residents. We have also been recognised nationally 
by receiving an award for our baled aluminium cans. 

 We offer a free food bag service which can be delivered or collected from multiple Authority buildings 
throughout the county borough. 

 Free replacement recycling boxes/containers delivered if or when needed. 
 
STREET CLEANSING 

 The service is now recycling at source which is positively benefiting the Authorities recycling targets and 
therefore providing recycling income.  Evidence can be obtained via waste services. (Integration). 

Page 40



Page 15 of 37 
 

 Collecting recycled waste from community groups and volunteers. Cans, plastic & grass. (focus on the future, 
Collaboration) 

 Partnership working with Keep Wales Tidy carrying out various community environmental projects, i.e. 
Goitre lane working with 3G’s etc. regular LEQ projects with councillors. (Involvement) 

 Assist councillors with community litter picks/clean-up projects. 

 Before and after pictures of clean-ups are shared on social media. Good feedback from social media. 

 Council policy is to remove any needle sticks within 24 hours, dead animals and dog fouling within 72 hours 
and all litter complaints within 5 working days. 

 Working collaboratively with Community Safety, the Police, Public Health and Trading Standards ie. camera 
surveillance and enforcement days. 

 
FLY-TIPPING 

 Every effort is made to recycle as much of the fly-tipping collected as possible. The materials collected are 
separated into different streams and recycled through our CA sites, e.g. wood, metals, plastic and cans. This 
reduces the waste going to landfill which also helps towards our recycling targets.    

 Assist community groups and RSLs with fly tipping offences; 

 Work closely with the Ranger for the common to actively reduce fly tipping offences; 

 Attend partnership working groups with NRW, FtAW, SWP, South Wales Fire and Rescue, private partners 
and neighbouring local authorities; 

 Promote our work via Corporate Communication to deter further fly tipping/trade waste offences; 

 Respond to complainants automatically via email through the ‘Report It’ form 
 
ENERGY/CARBON MANAGEMENT 

 The most energy efficient equipment affordable is being installed where old equipment is being replaced.  

 New buildings are being made as energy efficient as possible with renewable energy being built in.  In the 
recent Unit 20 new recycling building, photovoltaic (PV) solar panels were fitted to the roof to offset some of 
the electricity used by the large motors on the recycling equipment. 

 We now have 10 buildings with solar panels fitted and up until Dec 2018 they had produced a total of 1.49 
MWh of electricity and saved over 597,000 tonnes of CO2 production. 

 Work with CLAW energy group on knowledge sharing and best practice 
 
PARKS 

 Regular inspection and maintenance of the County Boroughs 55 fixed play areas.  (Prevention, Long-term) 

 Green flag management plans in place for Cyfarthfa, Taff Bargoed parks and Aberfan cemetery.  These are 
independently judged against the following criteria: - Welcoming place, Healthy safe and secure, Well 
maintained and clean, Environmental management, Biodiversity, landscape and heritage, Community 
involvement.  Marketing and communication, Management.  (Some of the criteria match up with the Welsh 
Governments Well Being Goals and the council’s focus on the future.  (Collaboration, involvement, Long-
term) 

 Friends of Cyfarthfa Park and Taff Bargoed park in place and actively involved in park issues.  (Involvement, 
Collaboration) 

 Collaboration with community groups to enable them to realise their aspirations e.g. 100k grant for new play 
area in Penygarn.  (Involvement, Collaboration) 

 Parks and countryside have recently given a presentation to cabinet on the advantages of reduced grass 
cutting.   (Integration, prevention, long term) 

 Actively support groups such as the Penygarn Community group in funding applications 100k grant 
application successful. (Involvement, Collaboration) 

 Park Taff Bargoed Warden organises and takes groups of children on biodiversity walks/talks. (Involvement, 
Collaboration) 

 Work alongside highways on the winter maintenance plan.  Successfully utilised two grounds maintenance 
tractors to supplement the gritter lorries in hard to access streets.  Evidence of public support and thanks 
was widespread on social media.  (Integration) 

 Volunteer produced documentation such as the Taff Bargoed Park Phase 1 Habitat survey.  (Involvement, 
Collaboration) 

Page 41



Page 16 of 37 
 

 SEWBREC (South East Wales Biodiversity Records Centre) have produced extensive study on the biodiversity 
within the park.  (Involvement, Collaboration) 

 Supported Asset transfer to local community groups e.g. Pontsticill toilets, council’s bowling greens.   Leases 
at Taff Bargoed on going for canoeists and anglers.  (Involvement, Collaboration, Long term) 

 Assisted a community bid for Micro Hydro scheme in Parc Taff Bargoed.   (Involvement, Collaboration, Long 
term) 

 All Green waste now produced including logs is sent to recycling centre.  ( Collaboration, Long term) 

 Peat free composts requested for bedding plants.  (Prevention, Long term) 

 Soils used within the department are from recycled materials via Bryn Quarry.  (Prevention, Long term) 

 Currently managers across neighbourhood services meet on a weekly basis.  This enables sharing of 
resources, horizon scanning and gives an understanding of the pressures other departments are under.  
(Long term, prevention, integration) 

 Use compost from Bryn Recycling which is derived from the councils food waste-  (Links to the corporate 
strategy- maximise efficient use of materials and resources by means of a waste hierarchy) 

 Provide an oil spillage procedure for both Taff Bargoed and Cyfarthfa lakes ( link to the corporate strategy i.e. 
minimise environmental damage through prevention of pollution 

 
(Many of the list above provide links to  Developing good quality, biodiverse and connected green infrastructure and 
open spaces) 

 
ENGINEERING AND TRAFFIC  

 The drainage section is collaboratively working with two other local authorities and internal stakeholders, 
providing a design service to ensure compliance with Schedule 3 of the Flood and Water Management Act 
2010. (Collaboration) 

 Design, Contract Management and Site Supervision: during 2017/18 the department was involved in the 
delivery of 65 contracts ranging in value from just under £600 to £769,500. The total value of the schemes 
was £1,928,405.69. Given that this represented approximately 50% of staff time the cost of delivery 
amounts £58,077 which represents an average fee of 3.0%. This compares very favourably with the rates 
charged by Capita which was £33k for the design element only of a scheme valued at £169K (which equates 
to a fee of 20%) whilst our fees also cover project management, site supervision the health and safety role 
required within the Construction Design and Management Regulations 2015 for all projects. The department 
also provides these same functions to other departments within the Council. (Integration, Collaboration)  

 Due to the high risk to public safety all reports received regarding dangerous or defective highway structures 
are investigated within 4 hours. (Prevention, Long-term) 

 All complaints received regarding road safety issues are investigated within 24 hours. (Prevention, Long-
term)  

 The department currently has two Welsh speakers out of ten staff. (Involvement) 

 Three authorities have withdrawn its membership from the County Surveyors Society Wales Engineering 
Services Benchmarking however MTCBC have continued its membership. (Collaboration) 

 The department assess structural calculations for Building Control in accordance with relevant codes of 
practice to allow determination of applications. (Integration) 

 The department provides a structural design service for other departments within the council in accordance 
with relevant codes of practice. (Integration, Collaboration) 

 Road safety training is provided to schools within Merthyr and the number of schools participating in the 
junior road safety officer programme is now 15. (Involvement, Collaboration) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 42



Page 17 of 37 
 

 
 
 

 
HIGHWAYS 

 Statement of Wellbeing; 

 Focus on the Future (Corporate Wellbeing Plan) 

 Annual Data return to Welsh Government (PAMS); 

 THS/12 (Road Conditioning Surveys)  

 THS/009 (St Lighting – Average time in days for St Lights to be restored)  

 Corporate Plan – Highways SOAPS; 

 Highways Network Plan – to provide a process on hoe highways carry out their service and helps to defend 

third party claims. 

 YOTTA/Mayrise Database system for Highways, allows for the automatic generation of inspection routes, 

identification of works with an integrated mapping module and improved management and service 

reporting 

 Highways Inspections – Internal Performance Indicators  

 Priority Emergencies – Internal Performance Indicators  

 Priority 1 – Internal Performance Indicators  

 Priority 2 – Internal Performance Indicators  

 Priority 3 – Internal Performance Indicators  

 APSE Finalist for 2018 - Best Performer in Roads, Highways & Winter Maintenance. Out of the last 6 years 
MTCBC as Finalist 5 times. MTCBC Highways are in the top 10 performing Councils in the UK. 

 APSE Finalist for 2018 – Best Performance in St Lighting. Out of the last 6 years MTCBC as Finalist 5 times 

 Positive feedback received from the public on social media in relation to the Winter Maintenance 
Programme provided by the Council – Qualitative Evidence 
 

DC PLANNING 

 The excellent performance has been consistent since 2014 and has continued in 2018/19 as highlighted in 
Welsh Government Planning Performance Reports and Development Management Quarterly Returns found 
at https://gov.wales/planning-services-performance 

 The Councils web-site also provides further detail in the form of Annual Performance Reports (APR). 
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/resident/planning-and-building-control/annual-performance/ 

 
BC PLANNING 

 All Building regulation applications are checked within 8 weeks statutory timescales, with 59.5% of 
applications determined within 3 weeks 75.6% in 5 weeks and 88.5% in 8 weeks (CAPS Reports) 76.67% of 
Dangerous Structures reports are inspected within 24hrs and 100% within 48 ( CAPS report). 

 The department also retains 91.56% of all Building Regulation applications with 8.44% being lost to the 
private sector.  

 Thank you emails / letter etc. 

 Report it form on line  
 
WASTE SERVICES 

 Waste data Flow (REF:01) 

 SOAP (REF:02) 

 WLGA benchmarking data (REF:03) 

 WLGA financial benchmarking data (REF:04) 

 NRW permitted site returns   (REF: 05)    

 Contracts (REF: 06 ) 

 Council, Cabinet, Scrutiny reports ( REF:07) 

 CLAIRE Group regional contract ( REF: 08) 

 Monthly contractual reports (REF: 09) 

Evidence: 

Page 43

https://gov.wales/planning-services-performance
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/resident/planning-and-building-control/annual-performance/


Page 18 of 37 
 

 MRF regulations (REF: 10) 

 Weighbridge tickets ( REF: 11) 

 Waste Consignment/ transfer notes ( REF: 12) 

 CSS meeting notes and agendas (REF: 13) 

 Internal spreadsheets (REF: 14) 

 Internal documents (REF: 15) 

 Team meeting notes/minutes (REF: 16) 

 Ems( REF:17)  

 Operations manuals (REF: 18)  

 Van permit database (REF: 19) 

 Refuse and Recycling Policy (REF:20) 

 Projects (REF:21) 

 Waste services 2019 action plan ( REF: 22) 

 Paint reuse procedure (REF: 23) 

 Enforcement procedure (REF: 24) 

 Waste finance data report (REF: 25) 

 Participation monitoring report (REF: 26) 

 HWRC implementation plan (REF: 27) 
 
STREET CLEANSING 

 SOAPS  

 Customer feedback 

 Annual Data (e.g.) LEAMs, PAMs 

 Annual Reports 

 Scrutiny Reports 
 
FLY-TIPPING 

 SOAPS  

 Customer feedback 

 Annual Data (e.g.) LEAMs, PAMs 

 Annual Reports 

 Scrutiny Reports 

 Customer feedback is recorded on Tascomi with any relevant comments 
 
ENERGY/CARBON MANAGEMENT 

 The Carbon Management evidence is taken from the following link; 
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-energy-performance-of-buildings-
certificates  and table DEC2 is used.  The data is based on the total Display Energy Certificates (DEC’s) 
produced within Merthyr Tydfil and although not all will be attributable to the authority the vast majority 
will be and it is the only information available for all authority areas since the data was no longer required by 
the Data Unit Wales. 

 The data shows a reduction in CO2 of CO2 emissions of 4050 tonnes or 26% for 2017 compared to 2016 and 
5278 tonnes or 45% for 2018 compared to 2017. 

 Our own data recently produced shows a reduction from 2014/15 to 2018/19 from 5977t to 3923t a 
reduction of 45% overall. 

PARKS 

 Strategy on a page(SOAP) 

 Playground inspection database, reduced incidence of accidents litigation in recent years. 

 Green flag accreditation and judges’ comments. 

 Friends of meetings and minutes. 

 Visits to Cyfarthfa Park numbered 527,342 2013-14 (latest data). 

 Thriving programme of environmental related events with Taff Bargoed Warden. 

 Water polo on Taff Bargoed Lake attracts nationally recognised competitions. 

Page 44

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-energy-performance-of-buildings-certificates
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-energy-performance-of-buildings-certificates


Page 19 of 37 
 

 Community led events such as the lantern parade Taff Bargoed, Dark Sky evenings. 

 Thriving biodiversity with a large range of insects birds and mammals frequenting the parks.  Input and 
studies carried out by RSPB volunteers. 

 Gwent Recorder Newsletter articles on Taff Bargoed Park. 

 Taff Bargoed Park Facebook page. 415 followers since Oct 2018. 

 Outsourced street weed spraying reduced Glyphosate use by 60-80%.  Majority of parks spraying is via CDA 
application (less waste and reduced environmental impact)  

 Oil spill kits provided for oil spills on lake.   
 
ENGINEERING AND TRAFFIC  

 Road safety: the results from the pre driver training showed an increase of knowledge from 41% to 62%. 

 Asset Management Database (AMX). 
 
 
 

 

QUESTION 1:  OUTCOMES 

 

     
     
Question 1.1:  How good are outcomes for the community? 
 

 
 
 

HIGHWAYS 

In light of the evidence given above, identify areas that the service would like to develop in order to do better. 

 We need to improve how we share information around the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act and the 5 
ways of working with officers we regularly work with. 

 Continue to reduce the age profile of staff within highways . 

 Replace unsuitable highways vehicles - Since moving to Abercynon it has been identified that some of the 
vans are not suitable to carry sufficient materials for a days work. The solution would be to upgrade these 
vans to 7.5 tonne lorries which would improve performance and wear and tear on the present vans. There is 
acost of £30k to upgrade the vans to 7.5 tonne lorries. 

 An increase in highways revenue budget would help to reduce the backlog of outstanding works orders this 
would also help reduce complaints. 

 An increase in highways revenue budget would help to reduce the Priority Emergency work-orders as they 
would be completed within the working day at a lower priority and still comply with section 41 of Highways 
Act 1980 which helps defend any potential third party claims. 

 
DC PLANNING 

 Look at a smoother/quicker/more informed Committee process which may involve Committee Site Visits 
being taken place before or on the day of the Planning Committee. 

 
BC PLANNING 
It is difficult to develop any areas due to the small team and lack of resources, high workloads, more complex 
legislation and increasing completion from the private sector.  

 The department has an aging workforce and due to the shortage of qualified officers generally and the 
competition from the private sector with large pay differences its essential for future resilience that the 
department has a succession plan through the employment of an apprentice/trainee. To leave it to chance 
could result in no suitable candidates placing the department at risk. Due to continued financial restrictions 
this year achieving the above unless corporately funded and supported is becoming impossible.  

Areas for Development: 

Page 45



Page 20 of 37 
 

 Staff Training, looking to develop more in house training as budget reductions have reduced opportunities to 
attend formal training courses.  

 To involve the community more where ever applicable and improve qualitative evidence to support good 
practice etc. e.g. feedback emails or satisfactions surveys? 

 Developing on-line applications and electronic delivery systems to allow the department to move towards a 
paperless system. 

 
WASTE SERVICES 

 Revamp of the van permit scheme 

 Improvement on recycling containers 

 Compaction bins on HWRC’s 

 Retrieving more recycling from the wheeled bin 

 Increase participation, set out and capture rate for kerbside dry recycling. 

 Increase participation, set out and capture rate for kerbside food waste. 

 3 weekly refuse collections 

 Collect AHP’s off the kerbside and HWRC 

 Collect plastic film off the kerbside and from HWRC 

 Reduce trade residual customer base 

 Increase internal recycling from internal services 

 Increase recycling rates at HWR’,s to 90% 

 Increase material streams at HWRC’s such as polystyrene  

 Extend garden waste collections to all year around 

 Operate haulage of the food waste in house 

 Expand roll out of recycling frames in flats 

 Increase the roll out of trolley boxes in addition to the 9000 already distributed in the county borough to 
cover all suitable properties. 

 Decrease the impact of the EFW outage 

 Improve communication to residents of the county borough 

 Enforcement (section 46) of wheeled bins 

 Improve kerbside recycling rounds from 10 vehicles with driver plus 1 to 8 vehicles with driver plus 2. 

 Reduce the amount of missed collection complaints 

 Additional person at Aberfan site to deal with additional tonnages 

 Meet and Greet at Dowlais site to educate the public of the site rules 

 Provision of a behavioural change officer 

 Divert re-usable bulky items from residual to re-use 

 Increase trade recycling customer base 

 Implement trade marketing strategy 

 Accept certain types of trade recycling at the HWRC’s with a charging system in place 
 
STREET CLEANSING 

 Set up an internal working group to develop a co-ordinated approach to tackle issues of fly tipping and 
litter. 

 Develop needle stick app in collaboration with Community Safety. 

 Introduce a Report-It page on the website for littering. IT currently developing. 

 Review road sweeping routes to become more efficient and react to the needs of the public.  

 Engage more frequently with Keep Wales Tidy and community groups. 

 Implement a ward champion programme. 

 Working collaboratively with Waste Wardens to enhance ‘behavioural change within schools and the 

general public. 

 Earlier intervention with Regen/planning to ensure maintenance costs & resources are appropriate for 
future requirements. 

 

 

Page 46



Page 21 of 37 
 

FLY-TIPPING 

 Set up an internal working group to develop a co-ordinated approach to tackle issues of fly tipping and litter 
(Desire Outcome on Strategy, AIM 4: Improve Local Environmental Quality) 

 With the introduction of the Wellbeing and Future Generations Act, work needs to continue to encourage 
and empower the community to be proud and take ownership of their environment. 

 Work more closely with the CCTV team to assess hot spot areas; 

 Work with Community Safety to establish a link in Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) and fly tipping; 

 Continue to support Scrutiny Committee with their enquiries. 
 
ENERGY/CARBON MANAGEMENT 

 Progress with Refit Cymru to reduce energy use and therefore CO2 production in more buildings 

 Install systemslink software to provide a system which will provide a powerful tool for validation of data and 
billing whilst enabling easier and quick access to energy analysis of our buildings. 

 All buildings  should have automatic meter reading for utilities and all buildings should be reported on 
 
PARKS 

 Skilled staff within the department will be lost over the next ten years and a plan to train and recruit 
replacements needs to be implemented. (Long term, prevention) 

 Some of the council’s assets held within the department are reaching their end of life.  For example most of 
the equipment in our fixed play areas is over 20 years old.  A removal or replacement programme will have 
to be implemented to ensure continued public safety and use. (Long term, prevention, Involvement) 

 Acceptance of the reduced grass cutting frequency and ways of working.  Some residents of the county 
borough find it difficult to come to terms with the perceived reduction in standards By producing clear 
understandable media via websites, social media and including staff and councillor training it is hoped for a 
better acceptance of the new standards and ways of working. (Long term, prevention, Involvement) 

 Continue to look at asset transfer opportunities for community groups to take over council owned assets. 
(Long term, prevention, Involvement) 

 By 2020 2200 new homes are planned in the Council’s LDP.  At present there is no means for the additional 
strain on resources to be funded out of the increase in income generated by means of council tax.  In order 
to make provision for the maintenance and the provision of new play facilities this should be built in to the 
MTFP mechanism to apportion the income where it’s needed. 

 
ENGINEERING AND TRAFFIC  

 Three engineers have recently been recruited due to staff leaving therefore each new member off staff will 
receive the necessary training required to fulfil their duties.  

 An apprentice has recently been appointed who is due to start in September. This post will assist staff within 
the department and help in the delivery of structural inspections to ensure bridges and the like are safe for 
use and fit for purpose by the community. 

 Benchmarking data will be submitted next year to the Wales Engineering Services Benchmarking to enable a 
comparison with other local authorities. 

 Measures identified in the Flood Risk Management plans and required works implemented, will see a 
reduction in the number of properties at risk from surface water flooding throughout the Borough.   

 Meet inspection frequencies in relation to highway structures, reservoirs and disused waste tips.  
 
 

 
 
 

These are the priority areas that need immediate improvement in order to have an impact on outcomes.  Consider 
the judgements- this should be about moving from unsatisfactory to adequate, or from adequate to good.  

HIGHWAYS  

 Improve how we as a team communicate information with staff across the organisations, and with key 
stakeholders 

Priorities for Improvement: 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 47



Page 22 of 37 
 

 I have identified the ageing workforce of highways operation team as a major risk, so to help mitigate this I 
have organised an ongoing apprenticeship scheme to reduce highways age profile and help reduce long term 
sickness and a potential loss of skills and local knowledge. 
 

DC PLANNING 

 Discuss changes to the Committee process with the Chair and Vice Chair of Planning. If they are amenable to 
change, submit a report to Planning Committee highlighting the benefits of visiting all sites (subject to a 
Committee report) before the application is considered at Committee. The report will also highlight that the 
vast majority of all other local planning authorities in Wales hold site visits before Committee. If the Planning 
Committee agrees to the suggested change then a report will be sent to Full Council with the aim of the 
Constitution being changed to allow the above mentioned revised procedure.    

 
BC PLANNING 

 Develop business case and application for apprentice post to allow succession planning and provide the 
department with a more robust future. 

 Train officers in management systems and responsibilities to allow for succession planning and a more 
stainable future.  

 
WASTE SERVICES 

 Revamp van permit scheme – We have reviewed and reduced the criteria in which residents need in order to 
apply for a van permit. We are also looking at doing an online version so as that residents can apply for a van 
permit electronically. 

 Reduce Trade residual customer base – In order to lower our residual and increase our recycling percentages 
we are looking at outsourcing school residuals to a private contractor. This potentially will lower our residual 
and increase our recycling/recovery percentages overall as an Authority. 

 Increase HWRC recycling rates – In order to improve our Recycling rates on the HWRC’s we have  introduced 
the black bag sorting on site. We also want to start carrying out spot checks on vehicles to ensure that it is 
only waste from the county borough that’s coming onto the HWRC’s. 

 Improving communications – we are looking into other and more sustainable ways to communicate 
information to residents of the county borough quickly and more efficiently. One way we have suggested is to 
purchase computer screens for our town centre. This will be a more advanced way at reaching large numbers 
of residents with little to no revenue cost. 

 Accepting trade recyclables through HWRC’s –Investigating the potential to allow trade recyclable material 
come through the HWRC’ s at a charge. This could potentially increase our site recycling percentages and 
increase our overall recycling/recovery rates but would require additional staff on site. 

 Keeping up with the Joneses campaign - In order to extract as much recyclable material from the wheeled 
bins the Council have adopted WRAP`s Keeping up with the Joneses campaign which has already been 
implemented by some North Wales authorities. A leaflet drop to all 27,000 households within the County 
Borough explaining the rationale behind the campaign will be the first stage. The campaign involves 2 
Recycling Wardens sending a letter to householders who, following a monitoring exercise, have recyclable 
items in their wheeled bin. They will also door knock to engage personally. On the second occasion where this 
offence occurs a section 46 notice will be given to the resident. On the 3rd occasion the offending resident will 
receive a fixed penalty notice. Non-payment of the FPN may result in prosecution. 

 Diverting Residual bulky items for re use - To improve on the ad-hoc arrangement currently operational for 
treating re-useable bulky items with a partner organisation (Furniture Revival) the Council have approved the 
decision to manage this in-house. Development of an area in the Unit 20 waste depot to provide a re-use shop 
is almost complete. Relevant plant & equipment including a delivery vehicle has been purchased. The 
development and plant and equipment were funded by Welsh Government. Discussions with a Voluntary 
sector organisation to staff the shop is ongoing. The timeline for the shop being operational is the autumn of 
2019. Residents will be able to take their re-useable items to the shop and to purchase items. 

 Increase trade recycling - To increase our trade recycling customer base and provide a more cost effective and 
efficient service, in partnership with WRAP Cymru, an action plan and marketing strategy is currently being 
developed. 

 

Page 48



Page 23 of 37 
 

STREET CLEANSING 

 Street cleansing has an ageing workforce, introduce apprenticeships within this area would benefit long term 
sustainability. 

 Collaborative working with waste wardens to improve recycling rates and educate the next generation 
through behavioural change ie. prevention/enforcement. 

 Work collaboratively with Keep Wales Tidy to involve community groups and introduce community 
champions. 

 
FLY-TIPPING 

 Utilise Corporate Communications to encompass various streams of communication, not only relating to fly 
tipping and trade waste prosecutions, but to provide further information to the public on important Duty of 
Care information; 

 Participate in local partner meetings and establish a working group with Cabinet Members and the Police; 

 Attend more fly tipping working groups; 
 
ENERGY/CARBON MANAGEMENT 

 Staff who have recently left or are about to leave require replacing 

 Funding needs to be made available on an invest to save basis 
(These are the minimum required to maintain an adequate judgement) 

 
PARKS 

 Implement a communication strategy to deal with the publics concerns about lack of maintenance. 

 Investigate ways to fund and recruit apprentices. 
 
 
ENGINEERING AND TRAFFIC  
The below are high priorities as they are statutory functions of the authority and ensure that the community is safe. 
The implications of failure or collapse of any of the below assets would be catastrophic.  
 

 Meet our statutory duties in relation to disused tip inspection. This will be measured against previous 
numbers inspected.  

 Meet our statutory duties in relation to bridge inspections over the next two years. This will be measured 
against previous numbers inspected. 

 Meet our statutory duties in relation to reservoir inspections. This will be measured against previous 
numbers inspected. 

 Investigate ways to generate income in the department.  
 
 

  

Page 49



Page 24 of 37 
 

QUESTION 1:  OUTCOMES 

 

     
     
Question 1.2:  Is there evidence of continuous improvement or excellence in customer results? 
 
 
 

 
ADEQUATE 

EVALUATION: When answering the question, consider the following: 
 

 Trends over time; 

 Different community groups; 

 Outcomes for individuals and families; 

 Contextual information 

 

 
 
 

 
HIGHWAYS 
Over the past 12 months the highways team’s continues to change and reduce in size. The gully cleansing operation 

has now been sub contracted to Caerphilly County Borough Council allowing 2 FTE to be released. Also 1 FTE 

highways admin has been relocated into the Civic Centres customer care team. Over the last 5 years the Highways 

Division has reduced by 50% in size from 52 staff to 26. 

Over the past 12 months: 

 MTCBC Highways is committed to providing continuous improvement and this is evidenced through our 

YOTTA/Mayrise system. This enables us to provide evidence of the section delivering our statutory obligations of 

the Council in respect of Highways maintenance.  

 Being responsive to the needs of our customers, providing effective management of the highway network asset, 

supporting highway network management strategy and integrated transport objectives and supporting and 

adding value where possible to wider council policy objectives. 

 In 2018/19, 70.18% of the 2163 highways customer cares were completed on time (5 working days), a decrease 

of 17.17% compared to 2017/18. There as however been an increase in the number of the highways customer 

care from 1784 in 2017.18 to 2163 in 2018.19 an increase 17.5% in complaints and a relocation of 1 full time 

member of the administration team. 

 100% of 505 Priority Emergency works-orders were completed on time the same as 2017/18 

 44% of the 1484 Priority 1 works-orders were completed on time, an increase of 2% compared to 2017/18. 

 55% of the 460 Priority 2 works-orders were completed on time, and increase of 24% compared to 2017/18 

 62% of the 55 Priority 3 works-orders were completed on time, an increase of 14% compared to 2017/18 

 Overall, 58% of the 2450 works-order were completed on time, an increase of 4% compared to 2017/18 

 99.97% of street lighting repairs were completed on time, a slight increase of 0.05% compared to 2017/18 

 375 street lighting failures were repaired in 2018/19, helping to provide a safer environment for highway users 

 On average, in 2018/19 street lights are restored within 2 days, the same as 2017/18 

 
DC PLANNING 

 The Planning Officers Society for Wales commission the Local Government Data Unit to undertake a 
customer satisfaction survey in all Local Planning Authority’s each year. In 2017/18 80% of customers were 
satisfied overall with how the Local Planning Authority (LPA) handled their application (Wales average 63%). 
72% said they were listened to about their application (Wales average 60%) with 84% (Wales average 62%) 

JUDGEMENT

: 

Current Position: 

Page 50



Page 25 of 37 
 

stating that the LPA responded promptly when they had questions. These figures represent a significant 
improvement from 2016/17 (see Annual Performance reports).   

 Some comments from the 2017/18 survey: 

 “A pre-application advice was very quick and helpful.” 

 “Easily the most straightforward local planning authority to deal with in Wales. Very helpful planning 
department from administration through to Head of Planning with a down to earth approach sadly 
missing in many council planning departments.” 

 "Merthyr are much better than the surrounding councils. But one is aware that the whole process is 
under-funded and grinding to halt across the whole UK. The tick box mentality is appalling, and much 
time and cost is wasted instead of talking directly and positively”. 

 
BC PLANNING 

 Generally the service performs well taking in to account the limited resources at its disposal the section 
comprises of 2 Building Control Officers 1 Technical admin officers who is also the administrator for the 
newly created Sustainable Drainage Adoption Board (SAB) which is newly implemented Welsh Government 
legislation and 1 Manger who also has a case workload.  

 As a department we contribute to the Public Service Board (PSB) Wellbeing Plan (Community Resilience and 
Wellbeing) and the Focus on the Future (FotF) Plan (Working Life and Living Well theme) as we ensure the 
safety and protection of the community by ensuring that new and altered buildings comply with current 
Building Regulations and existing buildings do not become structurally dangerous.  In addition to this, we 
contribute to the Environmental Wellbeing objective (promoting and supporting the use of renewable and 
low carbon energy) as the department through Part L of the building Regulations (conservation of fuel and 
power) promotes and ensures compliance of renewable and lowering carbon based energy. The department 
also contributes to the Living Well Wellbeing objective (Services that provide people with the ability to live in 
their own home) through the implementation of Part M of the Building Regulations (Assess to and the use of 
buildings) this ensures all new dwellings have provisions helping towards life time homes.  

 The department also contributes towards the Wellbeing Goals in particular a prosperous Wales through 
ensuring building are built and altered, meeting the requirements for carbon reduction and helping act on 
climate change, and also the gaol of a wales of cohesive communities through ensuring buildings and 
structures with in the community are safe to live in, visit work and use.  

 We are also developing our approach to the Sustainable Development Principles (the 5 ways of working) as 
the department due to its specialised and qualified staff in construction provide support to internal 
departments particularly Planning, Property, Regeneration and Estates (Involvement, Collaboration and 
integration) We also have close working and shared resources links with other Welsh Local Authority 
Building Control departments, sharing specialisms such as fire engineering and participate in a partnership 
scheme with all other Local Authorities in England and Wales ( Collaboration). 

 The department has  taken on the role of SAB administration from January 7th avoiding the need for the 
drainage section to employ a SAB administrator resulting in  savings for the Authority, this together with the 
increased complexity of regulations and new procedures and governance since the Grenfell disaster has 
meant that  more is being done for less which is  continuous improvement.  

 
WASTE SERVICES 

 Educational visits are carried out throughout schools and community groups to promote sustainable waste 

management. This encourages future generations to deal with their waste sustainably.  

 Provide a seasonal free of charge fortnightly garden waste collection for the residents of Merthyr borough. 

Numerous other Local Authorities currently charger for this service. 

 Free food bags for the residents of the county borough where as some Local authorities charge for this 

service.  

 Provision of Two bespoke Household waste and Recycling Centres  

 Provision of a proposed re use shop at our unit 20 Depot in Pentrebach where residents can donate or 

purchase re-usable items at a very low charge. 

 Information and advice is available to residents on sustainable waste management through various channels 

Page 51



Page 26 of 37 
 

such as Events, Door knocking campaigns, Website, Social media and enforcement. 

 Additional capacity bins are provided to residents of the county borough who need them based on a 

successful application. This provides residents who require additional capacity the peace of mind that that 

they have the correct size container to manage their residual waste. 

 Assisted collections are provided to residents of the county borough who require them based on a successful 

application. Free replacement recycling boxes/containers delivered if or when needed. 

STREET CLEANSING 

 The percentage of highways inspected of a high or acceptable standard of cleanliness is 96.6%.  This is above 
the welsh average of 93.9% and currently ranks Merthyr Tydfil 8th in Wales.   

 Over the past 5 years community group participation has increased year on year.  There were approximately 
8 in 2015, this has now increased to 40. 

 By introducing timescales for removal of drug paraphernalia, dog fouling, dead animals and graffiti streets 
are safer and cleaner thereby creating a safe infrastructure making Merthyr Tydfil an attractive destination.  

 
FLY-TIPPING 

 The average number of days taken to remove fly tipped waste is 0.7.  This is above the welsh average of 2.2 
and currently ranks Merthyr Tydfil 2nd in Wales.  This demonstrates an increase in performance from 
previous years (Good). 

 
ENERGY/CARBON MANAGEMENT 

 The CO2 produced by buildings with DEC’s is reducing but only because the electricity grid is becoming 
cleaner.  We have exceeded the 3% target but have not reduced energy use in most buildings due to lack of 
resources and funding. 

 New Energy Engineer in post and progressing with ReFit as resources allow 

 When new vehicles are being purchased the most economically advantageous solution is bought with the 
lowest emissions affordable at the time.  Costs of Electric Vehicles (EV’s) and lack of charging infrastructure 
hinders their adoption. 

 
PARKS 

 There are currently no national indicators of KPIs in relation to parks work.  However, the Green Flag award is 
an independent body that assesses the parks and awards the accreditation based on their judging criteria.  It is 
a departmental goal to achieve Green flag accreditation for Thomastown Park which is the council’s third park 
with this award.  These facilities are judges annually to ensure continued standards. 

 Regular meetings with user groups take place to continually gauge satisfaction levels and try to place 
resources where the public need is greatest.  Meetings take place with Merthyr Football league, Friends of 
Cyfarthfa, Friends of Taff Bargoed. Penygarn community group.  Also regular meetings with portfolio member. 

 The majority of complaints and requests are dealt with via the council’s Tascomi system.  Councillor’s requests 
are predominantly via email and we endeavour to deal with these promptly although response times are not 
monitored currently. 

 Standards in horticulture and groundsmanship have fallen in recent times due to efficiency savings and loss of 
skilled staff. 

 Staff integration across neighbourhood services is ad hoc and could be improved. 
 
 
ENGINEERING AND TRAFFIC  

 Benchmarking data was not submitted last year to the County Surveyors Society Wales to enable a 
comparison with other authorities within Wales. Only 12 authorities within Wales submitted benchmarking 
data for engineering in 2018/19 as other local authorities are also being challenged financially with reduced 
staff resource. Three authorities have withdrawn its membership from Engineering Services Benchmarking 
however MTCBC have continued its membership and will submit data next year. 

 Flood Risk Management: as Lead Local Flood Authority the Council is required to manage flood risk within 
the County Borough. In order to achieve this the Section is currently working to survey and record on a GIS 

Page 52



Page 27 of 37 
 

database all relevant information relating to both Council and privately owned watercourses within the 
County Borough. This is an ongoing task after which it will be a matter of ensuring the system is updated and 
maintained. 

 Road Safety: Training provided to schools is continuing and the number of schools participating in the junior 
road safety officer programme has increased by 2 from the previous year therefore we now train 15 out of 
22 schools. 

 Structural calculations: This service is provided to Building Control to check and approve structural 
calculations to ensure they are able to determine applications within 5 weeks. In 2018 100% of calculations 
were checked on time. 

 Highways Development Control: MTCBC’s percentage of planning responses returned within 21 days of 96% 
places us within the top quartile for Wales and our responses to local land charge searches are currently 
running at 100% within 5 days. 

 
 

 
 
 

 
HIGHWAYS 
 

 Take part in a number of focused workshop sessions to support the review and refocus of the corporate 

Wellbeing Plan, enabling reflection on progress made and lessons learned; 

 The Service has a well-established Highways Network Plan that provide clear guidelines that demonstrates 

accountability for why and how the Council carries out its highways maintenance provision and helps to 

defend third party claims. 

 The effective implementation of the Winter Maintenance Plan that details explicit processes for dealing with 

adverse weather conditions.  Again, it provides clear guidelines that demonstrate accountability for why and 

how the Council carries out winter maintenance and this Plan helps to defend third party claims. 

 The use of the YOTTA/Mayrise Database system that enables the effective management of technical 

administrative processes, as it generates highways inspection timetables monthly inspections, outstanding 

and completed works orders for highways and street lighting.  The system also collects, issues and stores 

complaints and accepts opening and closing permits from utilities to enable compliance and monitoring. 

 The use of LED lanterns in street lighting is reducing lighting failures, more cost-effective for the Council and 

better on the environment. 

 The implementation of eco-friendly materials and methods, including: 

 The use of Finagrip and Micro surface dressing on A, B or C category carriageways, which not only improves 

the skid resistance, surface preservation and seals the existing carriageway from water ingress but also uses 

low carbon material bitumen. 

 The use of traditional resurfacing 40mm Inlay that involves scarifying the existing surface and replacing with 

a new layer of asphalt or low carbon asphalt dependant on carriageway –the benefit of this safe 

infrastructure and encouraging heal lifestyles 

 Gully waste is dispensed at the CCBC reed bed filtration facility which filters the waste to produce recycled 

clean water that is used again in the gully.  The remaining solid waste is also recycled.  

 Machine footway resurfacing is carried out when renewing of tarmac and paving footways, using low carbon 
tarmac and plastic kerbs. 

 
 
DC PLANNING 

 The customer surveys highlight that the availability to talk to a duty planner before you submit an 
application, easy access to the case officer and the ability to amend an applications before it is determined 
are all seen as characteristics of a good planning service by its customers. See page 12 of Annual 

Good Practice: 

Page 53



Page 28 of 37 
 

Performance Report (2017-18) 
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/resident/planning-and-building-control/annual-performance/ 
 
BC PLANNING 

 The department aims to determine 60% of all applications within 3 weeks and 75% within 5 weeks and 100%    
within 8 weeks, although the latter is difficult to achieve due to the nature of some applications being larger 
and more complex and also many being design and build so the information isn’t available. However, 100% 
are checked and a response provided to the agent/applicant within 8 weeks period.  

 A same day Building Regulation inspections where requested and offers both morning and afternoon in          
inspections.  

 The department strives to investigate all dangerous structures reports within 24hrs  

 The Building Regulation function of Building Control is cost neutral 

 Good retention rates of clients in a fiercely competitive market, 2018 

 Good and close working practices and processes across departments with Development Control, Property, 
Regeneration, Estates and Environmental Health 

 Joint enforcement visits with Planning Enforcement and Environmental Health Officers 

 The introduction of ‘Report It’ forms on line now allows the public to report dangerous structures and 
unauthorised work at any time of the day and at their convenience.   

 1 member of staff is bilingual (Welsh and English) so the officer is able to provide and communicate all the 
technical nuances of the building regulations directly between the customer and the department (if 
required).   

 
WASTE SERVICES 

 Educational visits are carried out throughout schools and community groups to promote sustainable waste 
management. This encourages future generations to deal with their waste sustainably.  

 Provide a seasonal free of charge fortnightly garden waste collection for the residents of Merthyr borough. 
Numerous other Local Authorities currently charger for this service. 

 Free food bags for the residents of the county borough where as some Local authorities charge for this 
service.  

 Provision of Two bespoke Household waste and Recycling Centres which allow residents of the county 
borough to recycle all of their bulky waste.  

 Provision of a proposed re use shop at our unit 20 Depot in Pentrebach where residents can donate or 
purchase re-usable items at a very low charge. 

 Information and advice is available to residents on sustainable waste management through various channels 
such as Events, Door knocking campaigns, Website, Social media and enforcement. 

 Allowing the private sector partners such as Merthyr valleys homes and the voluntary sector to dispose of 
their bulky recycling through the HWRC, s. Also allow volunteer groups to dispose of their separated litter 
picked materials at the HWRC, s. This allows us to keep the streets of the county borough clean and litter 
free. 

 Additional capacity bins are provided to residents of the county borough who need them based on a 
successful application.  

 Assisted collections are provided to residents of the county borough who require them based on a successful 
application. 

 In multiple regional contracts for some materials bringing best value for money utilising economies of scale. 

 Having our own Waste transfer station allows us to treat material and sustain the best possible market price 
for our recycling. It also allows us to store high volumes of tonnages so in instances of haulage failure it does 
not impact on the residents of Merthyr county borough residents  

 Free replacement recycling boxes/containers delivered if or when needed. 
 
STREET CLEANSING 

 Internal service area (Parks) carry out bi-monthly cleansing inspections where a score is generated in 
conjunction with external scoring carried out by Keep Wales Tidy (integration). 

 Improved communication with the public through social media posts which includes the introduction of 
monthly meetings with corporate communications (involvement). 

Page 54

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/resident/planning-and-building-control/annual-performance/


Page 29 of 37 
 

 
FLY-TIPPING 

 Cleared all waste off Council owned land within our set target ranking us second in Wales; 

 Taken forward 10 successful prosecutions compared to 0 the year before; 

 Introduced and served 56 FPNs for fly tipping offences; 

 Continued to serve notices on businesses to ensure they have waste contracts; 

 Worked more closely with Comms to promote our area and monitored the likes and shares; 
 
ENERGY/CARBON MANAGEMENT 

 Building technology is being constantly reviewed and new technologies being considered for inclusion as and 
when resources allow. 

 Building design being done in collaboration with Blaenau Gwent CBC 

 Solar panels fitted to Unit 20 during recent upgrading and all LED lighting installed with daylight sensing 
 
PARKS 

 Regular meetings taking place with user groups and portfolio member. 

 The department is represented on the GreenSpace Wales forum where discussions on best practice and 
benchmarking take place. 

 The department undergoes external audit on health and safety for CHAS accreditation. 

 Increased integration of neighbourhood services departments. 

 Weekly manager meetings take place to coordinate resources. 

 Maintaining adequate standards with less resources and staff. 
 
ENGINEERING AND TRAFFIC  

 Due to the high risk to public safety all reports received regarding dangerous or defective highway structures 
are investigated within 4 hours.  

 All complaints received regarding road safety issues are investigated within 24 hours.  

 The department currently has two Welsh speakers out of ten staff.  

 The department assess structural calculations for Building Control in accordance with relevant codes of 
practice to allow determination of applications. 

 The department provides a structural design service for other departments within the council in accordance 
with relevant codes of practice. 

 Road safety training is provided to schools within Merthyr and the number of schools participating in the 
junior road safety officer programme is now 15.  

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
HIGHWAYS 

 Statement of Wellbeing; 

 Focus on the Future (Corporate Wellbeing Plan) 

 Annual Data return to Welsh Government (PAMS); 

 THS/12 (Road Conditioning Surveys)  

 THS/009 (St Lighting – Average time in days for St Lights to be restored)  

 Corporate Plan – Highways SOAPS; 

 Highways Network Plan – to provide a process on hoe highways carry out their service and helps to defend 

third party claims 

 YOTTA/Mayrise Database system for Highways, allows for the automatic generation of inspection routes, 

identification of works with an integrated mapping module and improved management and service 

Evidence: 

Page 55



Page 30 of 37 
 

reporting 

 Highways Inspections – Internal Performance Indicators  

 Priority Emergencies – Internal Performance Indicators  

 Priority 1 – Internal Performance Indicators  

 Priority 2 – Internal Performance Indicators  

 Priority 3 – Internal Performance Indicators  

 APSE Finalist for 2018 - Best Performer in Roads, Highways & Winter Maintenance. Out of the last 6 years 

MTCBC as Finalist 5 times. MTCBC Highways are in the top 10 performing Councils in the UK. 

 APSE Finalist for 2018 – Best Performance in St Lighting. Out of the last 6 years MTCBC as Finalist 5 times 

 Positive feedback received from the public on social media in relation to the Winter Maintenance 

Programme provided by the Council – Qualitative Evidence 

DC PLANNING 

 Yes improvement since 2016/17 (see customer survey results in APRs). 
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/resident/planning-and-building-control/annual-performance/ 
 

BC PLANNING 

 The department operates within a highly competitive market and by retaining 91.56% of the share it 
demonstrates that the department is operating efficiently and effectively and provides a high level of 
customer service and satisfaction. In this highly competitive market even keeping the current levels of 
market share shows a continuous improvement especially against the backdrop of increased workloads and 
budget reductions. 

 Team meetings and 1-1’s as well as dedicated technical and training sessions. 
 

WASTE SERVICES 

 Waste data Flow (REF:01) 

 SOAP (REF:02) 

 WLGA benchmarking data (REF:03) 

 WLGA financial benchmarking data (REF:04) 

 NRW permitted site returns   (REF: 05)    

 Contracts (REF: 06 ) 

 Council, Cabinet, Scrutiny reports ( REF:07) 

 CLAIRE Group regional contract ( REF: 08) 

 Monthly contractual reports (REF: 09) 

 MRF regulations (REF: 10) 

 Weighbridge tickets ( REF: 11) 

 Waste Consignment/ transfer notes ( REF: 12) 

 CSS meeting notes and agendas (REF: 13) 

 Internal spreadsheets (REF: 14) 

 Internal documents (REF: 15) 

 Team meeting notes/minutes (REF: 16) 

 Ems( REF:17)  

 Operations manuals (REF: 18)  

 Van permit database (REF: 19) 

 Refuse and Recycling Policy (REF:20) 

 Projects (REF:21) 

 Waste services 2019 action plan ( REF: 22) 

 Paint reuse procedure (REF: 23) 

 Enforcement procedure (REF: 24) 

 Waste finance data report (REF: 25) 

 Participation monitoring report (REF: 26) 

 HWRC implementation plan (REF: 27) 

Page 56

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/resident/planning-and-building-control/annual-performance/


Page 31 of 37 
 

 
STREET CLEANSING 

 SOAPs  

 Compliments 

 Annual Data (e.g.) LEAMs, PAMs 
 
FLY-TIPPING 

 SOAPs  

 Compliments  

 Annual Data (e.g.) LEAMs, PAMs 

 Social Media 

 Court outcomes 

 FPNs served (internal database) 
 
ENERGY/CARBON MANAGEMENT 

 None 
 
PARKS 

 Departmental SOAPS (strategy on a page) 

 Green flag awards. 

 Chas accreditation. 

 Minutes of meetings. 

 Departmental Financial budget. 
 
ENGINEERING AND TRAFFIC  

 Road safety: the results from the pre driver training showed an increase of knowledge from 41% to 62%. 

 Inspections: No benchmarking data is available for inspections of disused waste tips, reservoirs and highway 
structures. 

 Asset Management Database (AMX). 
 
 

 

 

QUESTION 1:  OUTCOMES 

 

     
     
Question 1.2:  Is there evidence of continuous improvement or excellence in customer results? 
 

 
 
 

In light of the evidence given above, identify areas that the service would like to develop in order to do better. 

HIGHWAYS 

 We need to improve how we share information around the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act and the 5 

ways of working with officers we regularly work with. 

 Reduce age profile of staff within highways 

 Replace unsuitable highways vehicles - Since moving to Abercynon it has been identified that some of the 

vans are not suitable to carry sufficient materials for a days work. The solution would be to upgrade these 

Areas for Development: 

Page 57



Page 32 of 37 
 

vans to 7.5 tonne lorries which would improve performance and wear and tear on the present vans there is 

an extra cost of £30k to upgrade the vans to 7.5 tonne lorries. 

 An increase in highways revenue budget would help to reduce the backlog of outstanding works orders this 

would also help reduce complaints. 

 An increase in highways revenue budget would help to reduce the Priority Emergency work-orders as they 
would be completed within the working day at a lower priority and still comply with section 41 of Highways 
Act 1980 which helps defend any potential third party claims. 

 
DC PLANNING 

 Applicants, agents and objectors/supporters clearly view face to face meetings with a case officer or duty 
officer as very important. This service can be improved by enabling easier and quicker access, whether on 
site or at reception, to application details. 

 
BC PLANNING 
It is difficult to develop any areas due to the small team and lack of resources, high workloads, more complex 
legislation and increasing completion from the private sector.  

 The department has an aging Building Control Officer workforce  and due to the shortage of qualified officers 
generally and the competition from the private sector with large pay differences its essential for future 
resilience that the department has a succession plan achieved through the employment of an 
apprentice/trainee. To leave it chance could result in no suitable candidates placing the department at risk. 
Due to continued financial restrictions and a reduction in already small budget expenditure this year 
achieving the above unless corporately funded and supported is becoming impossible.  

 Becoming paperless and having electronic delivery would help the department become more  

 As a manager striving for my team to be the best that they can be, developing your teams training would be 
advantageous E.g. New legislation/techniques, increasing personal development and qualifications of the 
team. 

 Succession planning for the management role. 

 Working with the wider internal departments of the Council to achieve common goals, or creating wider 
working forums with multiple departments would benefit to the department. 

 Becoming more proactive with internal departments at the start of any council projects e.g. estates or Regen 
if they are developing old buildings etc. 

 Developing a web based application system to provide an alternative means of making a Building Regulation 
application.  

 To develop more awareness technical training sessions for agents and builders.  

 To involve the community more where ever applicable and improve qualitative evidence to support good 
practice etc. e.g. feedback emails or satisfactions surveys. 

 
WASTE SERVICES 

 Revamp of the van permit scheme 

 Improvement on recycling containers 

 Compaction bins on HWRC,s 

 Retrieving more recycling from the wheeled bin 

 Collect AHP,s off the kerbside and HWRC,s 

 Collect plastic film off the kerbside and from HWRC,s 

 Increase material streams at HWRC,s such as polystyrene  

 Extend garden waste collections to all year around 

 Expand roll out of recycling frames in flats 

 Increase the roll out of trolley boxes in addition to the 9000 already distributed in the county borough to 
cover all suitable properties 

 Improve communication to residents of the county borough 

 Enforcement (section 46) of wheeled bins. This could potentially reduce flytipping/littering and potentially 
increase recycling percentages overall. 

 Improve kerbside recycling rounds from 10 vehicles with driver plus 1 to 8 vehicles with driver plus 2. This 

Page 58



Page 33 of 37 
 

will ensure that the service operates more efficiently.  

 Additional person at Aberfan site to deal with additional tonnages. This will have better communications 
with residents on the Aberfan HWRC. 

 Meet and Greet at Dowlais site to educate the public of the site rules 

 Provision of a behavioural change officer 

 Divert re-usable bulky items from residual to re-use 

 Increase trade recycling customer base 

 Implement trade marketing strategy 

 Accept certain types of trade recycling at the HWRC’s with a charging system in place 
 
STREET CLEANSING 

 To ensure a sustainable workforce, apprenticeships should be introduced to the team as street cleansing has 

an ageing workforce. 

 Create a specific educational business officer post that would be responsible for promoting behavioural 

change and looking at income generation (potential sponsors i.e. Mc Donalds), this could then be used to 

purchase more bins and signs throughout the county borough, hence raising awareness. 

FLY-TIPPING 

 Continue to remove waste as quickly as possible to try and rank 1st in Wales; 

 Promote more information via social media which in-turn should reduce complaints; 

 Utilise external partners to educate the public on their duty of care; 

 Work more closely with SWP to carry out more joint enforcement action days; 

 Utilise the internal CCTV cameras 
 
ENERGY/CARBON MANAGEMENT 

 Progress with Refit Cymru to reduce energy use and therefore CO2 production in more buildings 

 Install systemslink software to auto-validate bills and 

 All buildings should have automatic meter reading for utilities and all buildings should be reported on 
 
PARKS 

 Staff training audit to establish if staff can work across departmental boundaries. 

 Communication with staff on new ways of working to be undertaken. 

 Using the self-evaluation process to target areas for development and filter down to staff via one to one 
meetings and performance management procedures. 

 Investigate better ways to integrate with the public via social media. 
 
ENGINEERING AND TRAFFIC  

 Flood Risk Management: Based on the most recent Flood Maps produced by the EA on behalf of there are 
currently 1503 residential and 780 non residential properties at risk of flooding. Of the total 2283 properties 
at risk 1475 are considered to be at low risk and 386 are considered to be at high risk. It is anticipated that 
these figures will reduce as a result of implementing the measures that will be identified as part of the Flood 
Risk management Plans currently being produced within the section. 

 Staff training for the 3 recently recruited engineers within the department.  

 Further integration with Economic Development at early stages of projects.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 59



Page 34 of 37 
 

 
 
 

These are the priority areas that need immediate improvement in order to have an impact on outcomes.  Consider 
the judgements - this should be about moving from unsatisfactory to adequate, or from adequate to good.  

 
HIGHWAYS 

 Improve how we as a team communicate information with staff across the organisations, and with key 

stakeholders 

 Improve customer care performance by regular monitoring 

 Apprenticeship scheme to reduce highways age profile and help reduce long term sickness and a potential 

loss of skills and local knowledge. 

 
DC PLANNING  

 Purchase laptops/tablets to aid all planning officers/support staff to improve the efficiency of service 
delivery. For example, the ability to quickly and easily show plans on site/at reception to customers, the 
ability to take card payments at reception, ability to take meeting notes more efficiently, home working to 
improve speed of determining applications etc. 
 

BC PLANNING 
 

 Develop business case and application for apprentice post to allow succession planning and provide the 
depart with a more robust future; and 

 Train officers in management systems and responsibilities to allow for succession planning and a more 
stainable future.  

 
WASTE SERVICES 

 Revamp van permit scheme – We have reviewed and reduced the criteria in which residents need in order to 
apply for a van permit. We are also looking at doing an online version so as that residents can apply for a van 
permit electronically. 

 Increase HWRC recycling rates – In order to improve our Recycling rates on the HWRC, s we have recently 
introduced the black bag sorting on site. We also want to start carrying out spot checks on vehicles to ensure 
that it is only waste from the county borough that’s coming onto the HWRC,s. 

 Improving communications – we are looking into other and more sustainable ways to communicate 
information to residents of the county borough quickly and more efficiently. One way we have suggested is to 
purchase computer screens for our town centre. This will be a more advanced way at reaching large numbers 
of residents with little to no revenue cost. 

 Improve kerbside recycling rounds – To make the kerbside recycling rounds more efficient we are currently 
trialling 8 kerbside vehicles with driver plus 2 instead of 10 kerbside vehicles with driver plus 1. This gives us 
more continuity especially during times of vehicle break downs. This allows us to have 2 spare vehicles during 
the working week to cover situations such as accidents and vehicle break downs. 

 Accepting trade recyclables through HWRC, s –Investigate the potential to allow trade recyclable material 
come through the HWRC’ s at a charge. This could potentially increase our site recycling percentages and 
increase our overall recycling/recovery rates but would require more resources. 

 Keeping up with the Joneses campaign - In order to extract as much recyclable material from the wheeled 
bins the Council have adopted WRAP`s Keeping up with the Joneses campaign which has already been 
implemented by some North Wales authorities. A leaflet drop to all 27,000 households within the County 
Borough explaining the rationale behind the campaign will be the first stage. The campaign involves 2 
Recycling Wardens sending a letter to householders who, following a monitoring exercise, have recyclable 
items in their wheeled bin. They will also door knock to engage personally. On the second occasion where this 
offence occurs a section 46 notice will be given to the resident. On the 3rd occasion the offending resident will 
receive a fixed penalty notice. Non-payment of the FPN may result in prosecution. 

 Diverting Residual bulky items for re use - To improve on the ad-hoc arrangement currently operational for 

Priorities for Improvement: 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 60



Page 35 of 37 
 

treating re-useable bulky items with a partner organisation (Furniture Revival) the Council have approved the 
decision to manage this in-house. Development of an area in the Unit 20 waste depot to provide a re-use shop 
is almost complete. Relevant plant & equipment including a delivery vehicle has been purchased. The 
development and plant and equipment were funded by Welsh Government. Discussions with a Voluntary 
sector organisation to staff the shop is ongoing. The timeline for the shop being operational is the autumn of 
2019. Residents will be able to take their re-useable items to the shop and to purchase items. 

 Increase trade recycling - To increase our trade recycling customer base and provide a more cost effective and 
efficient service, in partnership with WRAP Cymru, an action plan and marketing strategy is currently being 
developed. 

 
STREET CLEANSING 

 Re-introduce internal/external Enforcement Officers to reduce litter and dog fouling. 
 
FLY-TIPPING 

 Set up a working group with Community Safety to share intelligence; 

 Create a link with internal departments to review CCTV more regularly; 

 Liaise more with Waste Services to reduce fly tipping and excess waste; 
  
ENERGY/CARBON MANAGEMENT 

 Staff who have recently left or are about to leave require replacing 

 Funding needs to be made available on an invest to save basis 
 
PARKS 

 None 
 
ENGINEERING AND TRAFFIC  

 Staff training for the 3 recently recruited engineers within the department.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 61



Page 36 of 37 
 

QUESTION 1:  OUTCOMES 

 

     
     
Question 1.3:  How has the service improved the wellbeing and attitudes towards learning of children and young  
                          people? (To be answered by the Education service only) 
 
 
 

 
N/A 

EVALUATION: When answering this question, consider the ESTYN guidance 1.3 – wellbeing and attitudes to 
learning 

 

 
 
 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

JUDGEMENT

: 

Current Position: 

Good Practice: 

Evidence: 

Page 62



Page 37 of 37 
 

QUESTION 1:  OUTCOMES 

 

     
     
Question 1.3:  How has the service improved the wellbeing and attitudes towards learning of children and young  
                          people? (ESTYN focussed – only Education to answer) 
 

 
 
 

In light of the evidence given above, identify areas that the service would like to develop in order to do better. 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

These are the priority areas that need immediate improvement in order to have an impact on outcomes.  Consider the 
judgements - this should be about moving from unsatisfactory to adequate, or from adequate to good.  

 

  
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

Areas for Development: 

Priorities for Improvement: 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY REPORT 
 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Forward Work Programme 2019/20  
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1 To provide the Scrutiny Committee with its work programme for consideration and to 
prepare in advance of the next scrutiny committee meeting. 

 
1.2 To remind Scrutiny Committee members that they need to consider the requirements 

of the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 in all aspects of scrutiny 
work. 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 

2.1 The Committee considers the attached work programme and approves, revises or 
amends it as deemed appropriate; and to consider the questions at 3.7 in planning 
for the next meeting.  

 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

3.1 The attached work programme identifies the topics and issues under consideration 
by the Scrutiny Committee and allows an opportunity for additional subjects to be 
identified and included on the programme. 

 
3.2 Scrutiny committees are required to prepare and keep under review a programme for 

their future work. By reviewing and prioritising issues, members are able to ensure 
that the work programme delivers a member-led agenda.  

 
3.3 The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires each Public Service 

Board (PSB) and Council to work with their communities to develop local objectives. 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (MTCBC) and the Cwm Taf PSB have acted 
on this. 

Date Written 6th September 2019 

Report Author Scrutiny Section 

Committee Division Scrutiny  

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 16th September 2019 

Page 65

Agenda Item 5



 
3.4 MTCBC has four local Wellbeing Objectives, each having clear outcomes that will 

help the Council to respond to local community needs and contribute to the seven 
national wellbeing goals. The four Wellbeing Objectives are:- 

 
 

BS Best Start to Life - Children and young people get the best start to life and are 
equipped with the skills they need to be successful learners and confident 
individuals.  
 
The key outcomes for Best Start to Life are: 
 

 Children live in a nurturing and stimulating home environment  

 Children have access to high quality pre-school and school education  

 Improve the educational outcomes for all children and young people  

 Children and young people have good health and wellbeing 
 
 

WL Working Life - People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the 
needs of businesses, with a developing, safe infrastructure which makes Merthyr 
Tydfil as an attractive destination.  
 
The key outcomes for Working Life are:  
 

 Merthyr Tydfil realises its full economic potential, with a skilled workforce and 
better employment opportunities; 

 People value and enjoy the built and natural environment, protecting and 
enhancing our cultural assets for current and future generations;  

 We have strong, resilient and supportive communities where people take 
responsibility for their own actions and how they affect others.  

 
 

EW Environmental Wellbeing - Communities protect, enhance and promote our 
environment and countryside.  
 
 The key outcomes for Environmental Wellbeing are:  
 

 Environmental damage is minimised by preventing pollution 

 To maximise the amount of materials and resources recycled in line with the 
waste hierarchy; 

 Merthyr Tydfil has good quality, biodiverse and connected green infrastructure 
and open spaces; and 

 The use of renewable and low carbon energy is increased.  
 

LW Living Well - People are empowered to live independently within their 
communities, where they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health.  
 
The key outcomes for Living Well are: 
 

 People live safe and independent lives within their communities 

 Children and adults are safeguarded from harm and feel safe 

 Children and young people live safely with their family or close to home and 
have transitioned well into adulthood. 

 

 

Page 66



3.5 The Scrutiny Committee is encouraged to identify issues that reflect these priorities 
that are within your remit and/or are a priority for local people and communities. If a 
matter is a recurring issue for the people you, as Councillors, represent, the 
likelihood is that it is something that the Committee should consider. The more 
relevant the issue is to local communities then the greater the likelihood of engaging 
those communities in the scrutiny process and of producing outcomes that will be 
visible to those communities you represent. 

 
3.6 MTCBC has developed an ‘Our Shared Vision’ document (Appendix I). This makes 

the connections from the seven national Wellbeing Goals through to the local 
objectives and political priorities. This document is contained within one page and 
acts as an easy to understand guide. When considered with service area strategies 
and operational plans a thread is created that can be extended down to individual 
tasks. This helps staff members see how they are contributing to the Act and the 
‘Wales We Want’, and will assist Scrutiny members better understand the 
connections with the Act. 

 
3.7 The work programme is a dynamic document and is reviewed at every meeting of 

the Committee to ensure that its contents are still relevant and will add value to what 
the Council and partners are doing. At each meeting the committee will agree the 
agenda items for their next meeting and in preparation may in advance wish to ask 
itself the following questions. 
 

Q) Why has the item been placed on a Scrutiny Work Programme? 

a. Does this item/topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s wellbeing 
objectives and priorities? 

b. Is this item/topic relating to service performance concerns? 
c. Is this item/topic of significant public interest? 
d. Has the item/topic got budgetary implications? 
e. Is this a item/topic where Scrutiny involvement will make a significant 

difference and achieve tangible outcomes? 
f. Can effective Scrutiny of this issue be delivered from within available 

resources? 
 
Q) What is the specific role of the Committee? 

            This will depend on the item – for example the role could be: 
a. to determine if performance levels are acceptable in relation to a particular 

department; 
 b.  to determine if a specific policy is fit for purpose; 

 c.  to satisfy itself that the Authority is working well with its partners in tackling a 
major issue; 

d.  to gather the views of specific stakeholders as part of an on-going scrutiny 
investigation / review; 

e. to explore possible solutions to an issue. 
 

Q) What outcome is the Committee seeking from the consideration of this 
item? 

a. To comment on the proposed budget and make suggestions to cabinet 
regarding the proposed budget’s ability to deliver the priorities of the council  

b. Identification of any causes for concern and note successes. 

Page 67



c. To receive an overview presentation. 
d. To gain an understanding of and to comment on a policy / strategy 
e. To explore ideas around the setting of budgets while considering the 

pressures facing each service. This also helps provide an overview of the 
policy frame work.  

f. For the scrutiny committee to gain an overview and refresh their knowledge of 
the wellbeing objectives / other plan / other strategy. 

g. Improvement in service delivery 
 

Q) What information does the Committee need to fulfil this role / achieve 
this outcome?  

What is the Committee trying to do? You might be trying to do some or all of 
the following i.e. establish facts; gather opinions; or explore new ideas / 
solutions. 

 

Q) Who should be invited to the meeting to provide the information? 

Depending on the information you need you might want to hear from a range 
of witnesses – e.g. Cabinet members, Senior Officers, Service users, and 
External partners – e.g. Police, Strategic Partners etc 

 

Q) Does the Committee need to ask for written representations? 

The Committee may wish to pose some questions to the Directorate / Cabinet 
Member / External Partner etc prior to the meeting. This may help in instances 
when the Committee is looking for something specific to be addressed. This 
will assist whoever is attending ensure that they have the information / answer 
ready for the meeting.  

 

Q) Which meeting format / venue would be most appropriate for the item 
and for the witnesses that will be invited to attend? 

 Meetings do not have to be held in a formal committee room environment. 
You may wish to hold occasional meetings out in the community e.g. 
community centres, sports facilities etc. It depends on the subject. Some 
people find the formal setting intimidating. Site visits for example may be more 
appropriate to see first-hand what the committee is investigating / obtaining 
information on e.g. waste sites, regeneration projects etc. 

 
Q) Method of Scrutiny? 

 Once Members have identified the matters they wish to scrutinise, 
consideration should be given to scoping the subject in more detail including 
the timing and method of scrutiny to be used. Support in this process will be 
given by the Scrutiny and Support Manager and Officer. Members may wish 
to: 

a. Consider an item at a single meeting; 

b. Consider an item over a series of meetings; 

c. Allocate the work to a small working group of Members (Task & Finish group) 
to investigate the issue over a period of 2-3 months (this may involve visits to 
see how services are working in practice); 

d. Undertake an Inquiry Day (or days); 

e. Undertake joint scrutiny with members of another Scrutiny Committee; 

Page 68



f. Invite expert witnesses to give their views; 

g. Seeking the views of service users/carers and/or the general public (public 
calls for evidence). 

 
 
 
Performance and Scrutiny Department 
MTCBC 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Statement of Wellbeing 
& Focus on the Future: 
Wellbeing in our 
Community 

17th April 2019 MTCBC Website 
 
Full Council 17th April 2019  
 
 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 69

http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s44203/Committee%20Report.pdf?LLL=0


  

APPENDIX I 

Page 70



Neighbourhood Services, Planning and Countryside Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

 

Date / Timing Overarching Item Officer & Cabinet 
Member  

Scrutiny Focus  

3rd June 2019 
(submission date 
24th May) 

Draft Committee 

Work Programme 

2019/20 

 

Cllr Declan Sammon 

(Chair) and Scrutiny 

Committee Members 

The Committee to discuss the draft Work Programme and to officially agree and sign off 

the Work Programme for 2019-2020. 

 

Fly-tipping 
Enforcement Camera 
Facilities 

Paul Jones / Jemma 
Price / Rob Barnett 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Merthyr Valleys Homes (MVH) presented a report to scrutiny 
committee on 15th April 2019 and they discussed the type of surveillance cameras their 
organisation used. As a result of this, the members would like a report on what existing 
surveillance cameras are operated within the Council and also specific information on the 
deployment of cameras (e.g. how often are they deployed, examples of the places that 
they are deployed, what time scale is required (officers resources) to position the 
cameras, removing them, the general maintenance of the cameras whilst deployed (e.g. 
battery time), and officers resources to go through the footage and all associated 
costs).In addition to this, the committee would also like to receive a breakdown of the 
materials that has been recycled and landfilled (tonnage) due to fly-tipping, in 2017/18 
and 2018/19.   
 

Maintenance 
Schedule of Vehicles 

Paul Davies / Mick 
Campbell / Sean 
Purnell 

Scrutiny & Challenge: The Household Waste and Recycling Centres (HWRC) Manager 
reported to scrutiny on 15th April 2019, whereby the functionality of vehicles was 
identified as an issue in relation to service delivery. 
 
The Committee seeks to develop a clearer understanding of the role of the fleet in 
delivering the waste and recycling services in order to best determine what 
improvements may be needed.  The Committee wish to receive:  

 an outline of vehicle management and maintenance programs; 

 differentiate the roles of the fleet manager and service managers involved in 
delivering the services; and  

 identify the impact of non-availability of vehicles and how this impact both on budget 
management and meeting public expectations. 

  

8th July 2019 
Recycling Rates (Food 
and Household 
Waste) 

Stephen Thomas / 
Paul Davies / Rob 
Barnett 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - The committee has requested a report specifically on the food 
recycling rates, dry recycling and household recycling rates in general. The report should 
also include an analysis of the different types of household recycling from 2015/16 to 

P
age 71



Neighbourhood Services, Planning and Countryside Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

2018/19 and the funds generated from household recycling (e.g. dry recycling, food 
waste etc.). The committee would also like to receive an understanding of what areas are 
deemed particularly good and bad for recycling waste. 
 
In addition to the above, the members would also like an update on the recent WRAP 
pilot scheme and additional information on the percentage of people in the borough who 
do not recycle (if applicable).  

Missed Collection for 
Household Waste and 
Recycling 
 

Paul Davies / John 
James 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - The committee seeks to develop a clear understanding of the 
issues and barriers that contribute the collections of food recycling, dry recycling and 
household recycling in general.  The report is also to consider key areas for development 
and improvement for 2019/20 within Merthyr Tydfil. 
 

Forward Work 
Programme 

Chair and Committee 
Members 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To review the items due to be presented at the next 
Committee meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the Committee’s expectations are available 
to report authors who will be drafting the report. 
 

16th September 2019 

Carbon Management Mick Campbell / Ian 
Goldsworthy 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - A Carbon Management report was presented to scrutiny on 11th 
March 2019, whereby the officers attending stated a number of saving achieved since 
the employment of the new Carbon Management Officer. The scrutiny members have 
requested an update on the savings made to date, and also what impact has this work 
had on the carbon footprint of the borough. The report should also make reference to 
statutory and other measure reported by the team and if the Authority is on track of 
achieving its targets.  
 

Self-Evaluation 
Findings: Question 1: 
Outcomes 

Cllr David Hughes / 
Judith Jones / Rob 
Barnett  

Scrutiny and Challenge:  Made up of 3 key questions the re-focused self-evaluation 
process supports Chief Officers and service teams to reflect on what they achieved and 
identify and set priorities for improvement.  The Committee will receive the service’s 
response to the first of the key questions which is linked to Outcomes.  They will be 
required to scrutinise the proforma outlining the findings of the process (along with 
relevant supporting evidence); and review the validity of the judgment ascribed.   
 

Forward Work 
Programme 

Chair and Committee 
Members 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To review the items due to be presented at the next 
Committee meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the Committee’s expectations are available 
to report authors who will be drafting the report. 
 

P
age 72



Neighbourhood Services, Planning and Countryside Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

14th October 2019 

Highways Darren Chaffe Scrutiny & Challenge: - An update on Highways, Winter Maintenance and Street Lighting 
was presented to scrutiny on 21st January 2019. Members have since received a number 
of enquires relating to potholes and how the roads are being re-surfaced. Therefore, a 
report is to be presented on the team’s performance regarding potholes, which should 
include costings, resources, number of complaints and successful claims again the 
Council. The report should also make reference to the different types of resurfacing 
undertaken by the department, information on who completes the repairs and 
maintenance and the financial impact. In addition, the report should contain details of 
gulley waste cleaning and the impact as a result of change of process (i.e. using Caerphilly 
CBC). 
 

Street Cleaning 
 
 

Information Report  Information Report: - Summary report providing a current position statement on the 
performance of the area (and previous trend data), along with any details of 
issues/barriers experienced and how these have been overcome. The report is also to 
consider key areas for development and improvement for 2019/20 within Merthyr Tydfil. 
 

Forward Work 
Programme 

Chair and Committee 
Members 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To review the items due to be presented at the next 
Committee meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the Committee’s expectations are available 
to report authors who will be drafting the report. 
 

2nd December 2019 

Traffic Phase of the 
Air Quality 
Management Area 

Carwyn Morris and 
Sue Gow 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) was last presented to 
scrutiny on 18th June 2018. Members would like an update on the air quality and the 
impact from the traffic reconfiguration. The report should consider all aspects of impact 
(of the redirection of the traffic) such as complaints, traffic accidents etc.  
 

Self-Evaluation 
Findings: Question 2: 
Service Delivery 

Cllr David Hughes / 
Judith Jones / Rob 
Barnett 

Scrutiny and Challenge:  Made up of 3 key questions the re-focused self-evaluation 
process supports Chief Officers and service teams to reflect on what they achieved and 
identify and set priorities for improvement.  The Committee will receive the service’s 
response to the second key question which is linked to Service Delivery.  They will be 
required to scrutinise the proforma outlining the findings of the process (along with 
relevant supporting evidence); and review the validity of the judgment ascribed.   
 

Forward Work 
Programme 

Chair and Committee 
Members 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To review the items due to be presented at the next 
Committee meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the Committee’s expectations are available 
to report authors who will be drafting the report. 

P
age 73



Neighbourhood Services, Planning and Countryside Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

 

13th January 2020 

Nature Recovery 
Report 
 

Matthew Davies 
 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - The committee seeks to develop a clear understanding of the 
Environmental Act and Merthyr Tydfil’s Nature recovery plan. The report should also 
include any issues and barriers experienced the key areas for development and 
improvement for 2019/20 within Merthyr Tydfil.  
 

Forward Work 
Programme 

Chair and Committee 
Members 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - to review the items due to be presented at the next Committee 
meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the Committee’s expectations are available to report 
authors who will be drafting the report. 

2nd March 2020 

Self-Evaluation 
Findings: Question 3: 
Leadership and 
Management 

Cllr David Hughes /  
Cllr David Hughes / 
Judith Jones / Rob 
Barnett 

Scrutiny and Challenge:  Made up of 3 key questions the re-focused self-evaluation 
process supports Chief Officers and service teams to reflect on what they achieved and 
identify and set priorities for improvement.  The Committee will receive the service’s 
response to the last of the key questions which is linked to Leadership and Management.  
They will be required to scrutinise the proforma outlining the findings of the process 
(along with relevant supporting evidence); and review the validity of the judgment 
ascribed.   
 

Forward Work 
Programme 

Chair and Committee 
Members 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To review the items due to be presented at the next 
Committee meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the Committee’s expectations are available 
to report authors who will be drafting the report. 

27th April 2020 
Forward Work 
Programme 

Chair and Committee 
Members 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To review the items due to be presented at the next 
Committee meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the Committee’s expectations are available 
to report authors who will be drafting the report. 

Additional items to consider for Work 
 

Date to be 
confirmed 
 

Review of surveillance 
cameras within the 
Authority 

There is currently a review being undertaken within the Authority regarding the surveillance cameras. The 
members would like to be updated with the findings when they are available. 

Date to be 
confirmed 
 

  

Date to be 
confirmed 
 

  

Date to be   

P
age 74



Neighbourhood Services, Planning and Countryside Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

 

confirmed 
 

P
age 75



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Update on Carbon & Energy Management Activities
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	4 Corporate Self-Evaluation
	Appendix 2

	5 Forward Work Programme 2019/20
	Appendix 1


